
 
 

 
 
Committee: 
 

COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE 

Date: 
 

THURSDAY, 25 MARCH 2021 

Venue: 
 

THIS WILL BE A VIRTUAL MEETING 
PLEASE CLICK THIS LINK TO ACCESS THE REMOTE MEETING 
 

Time: 6.00 P.M. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence  
 
2. Minutes  
 
 Minutes of meeting held on 10 December 2020 (previously circulated).  
  
3. Items of urgent business authorised by the Chair  
 
4. Declarations of Interest  
 
 To receive declarations by Councillors of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.   

Councillors are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are 
required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting).   

Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Councillors should declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the meeting.   

In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code Of Conduct, Councillors are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 
9(2) of the Code of Conduct.   

  
5. Amendments to the Council's Constitution (Pages 3 - 5) 
 
 Report of the Monitoring Officer. 
  
6. The Future Buildings Consultation (Pages 6 - 50) 
 
 Report of the Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration. 
  
7. National Planning Policy Framework and National Model Design Code: Consultation 

Proposals (Pages 51 - 68) 
 
 Report of the Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration. 
  

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MjAxNTA3MjUtMjNiNi00OTNiLThlYWItODZlZjFlMTg5NGJl%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2261b49b28-22c1-4c9b-8830-70288744880e%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22b1a1ca30-3ebb-4299-bd5f-616c908020b2%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a


 

8. Electoral Review of the City Council - Warding Pattern Consultation (Pages 69 - 70) 
 
 Report of the Head of Democratic Services. 
  
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
(i) Membership 

 
 Councillors Joyce Pritchard (Chair), Victoria Boyd-Power, Darren Clifford, Joan Jackson, 

Paul Stubbins, Katie Whearty and David Whitaker 
 
(ii) Substitute Membership 

 
 Councillors Alan Biddulph (Substitute), June Greenwell (Substitute), Mel Guilding 

(Substitute), Mandy King (Substitute), Geoff Knight (Substitute), Abi Mills (Substitute), 
Faye Penny (Substitute) and Joanna Young (Substitute) 

 
(iii) Queries regarding this Agenda 

 
 Please contact Debbie Chambers, Democratic Services - email 

dchambers@lancaster.gov.uk. 
 

(iv) Changes to Membership, substitutions or apologies 
 

 Please contact Democratic Support, telephone 582170, or alternatively email 
democracy@lancaster.gov.uk.  
 
 

KIERAN KEANE, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, 
TOWN HALL, 
DALTON SQUARE, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ 
 
Published on 17 March 2021.   

 

mailto:democracy@lancaster.gov.uk


COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE    

 
Amendments to the Council’s Constitution 

 
25 March 2021 

 
Report of the Monitoring Officer  

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To consider for approval several amendments to various parts of the Constitution, as set out 
in the report. 
 

This report is public.   

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
(1) That Members approve the requests for amendments to the Constitution,  

which are detailed in paragraph 2.0 of this report.  
 
1.0 Background and Introduction 
 
1.1 The terms of reference of this Committee include, at 8.5 of Part 2, Section 5 of 

the Constitution:-  

“To agree amendments to all parts of the Constitution, on a referral from the 
Audit Committee or Monitoring Officer, other than the Responsibility for 
Functions, Financial Regulations and Procedures, Contract Procedure Rules 
and minor constitutional amendments which are within the responsibility of the 
Monitoring Officer.”  

1.2  This is a report of the Monitoring Officer to refer several such amendments to 
the Committee for approval. Each matter is set out in detail in paragraph 2.0 
below. 

2.0 Proposed Amendments 
 

2.1 Part 3, Section 2 (Cabinet Procedure Rules) Rule 11 currently states “Cabinet 
agenda should not include information or noting reports.” It is proposed 
that this sentence be removed, as it is sometimes quite appropriate for reports 
for information or noting to be included on a Cabinet agenda and this sentence 
is not helpful or necessary. 

 
2.2 Part 3, Section 3 (Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules) Rule 9 (a) 2nd 

paragraph, last sentence, currently states about preparation of the O&S Work 
Programme “Issues will be assessed by the Committee using a template to 
determine the salience of the issue based on risk management, corporate 
priorities and other relevant factors.” The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
resolved quite some time ago to ask the Monitoring Officer to consider any 
constitutional issues around changing the wording above to: “A meeting be 

Page 3 Agenda Item 5



arranged with the Chair of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee, Chair of 
Budget & Performance Panel, the Pre-Scrutiny Champion and members 
of the Council’s Executive Team. This meeting will allow a preliminary 
prioritisation of submissions to be conducted and report back to this 
Committee. This being subject to the arrangements for consulting on 
future Work Programme items as set out in the Constitution continuing 
and the Work Programme being finally agreed by this Committee.”  The 
matter does not appear to have been considered by the Monitoring Officer at 
that time.  Democratic Services have brought this to the attention of the current 
Monitoring Officer, who has advised that this is a change to the Constitution, 
which the Council Business Committee is authorised to make, if it agrees with 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that this would allow for a more 
considered and rounded Work Programme to be developed.  

 
2.3 The next proposal results from recent talks with the Centre for Governance and 

Scrutiny (CfGS) about the grounds for call-in. The CfGS suggested that these 
be reviewed, as they are extremely wide. Part 3, Section 3 (Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules) Rule 16 currently states “Call-in should only be 
used in exceptional circumstances. ‘Exceptional circumstances’ are 
where members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee have evidence 
that the decision in question will not be, or has not been made, in 
accordance with the decision making principles set out in Part 1 (of the 
Constitution) or other reasons, provided that the reasons are specified in 
full on the form requesting the Call-in”. It is proposed that the words ‘or other 
reasons’ are removed, that a full stop is inserted followed by this sentence: “The 
reasons must be specified in full on the form requesting the Call-in.” This 
change is proposed because Call-in has to be used in exceptional 
circumstances where it is believed that a decision has not been properly made, 
and the inclusion of the words ‘or other reasons’ makes it possible for almost 
any decision to be called in for any reason, even if soundly made. 

 
2.4 Cabinet Procedure Rule 4(b) in Part 3, Section 2, requires the Leader to report 

any changes in their Executive Scheme of Delegation in writing to the Director 
of Corporate Services and that “The Director of Corporate Services will 
present a report to the next Ordinary meeting of the Council setting out 
the changes made by the Leader.” Before the review of the Constitution in 
2019, the report to Council was always in the name of, and presented by, the 
Leader and the current Leader would like this still to be the case. It is therefore 
proposed that the last sentence of Rule 4 (b) is amended to read: “The Leader 
will present a report to the next Ordinary meeting of the Council setting out the 
changes made.” 

 
2.5 The Leader routinely extends the ability to ask questions on reports to non-

Cabinet Councillors who are in attendance at Cabinet meetings. The way this 
is effected is via waiving Council Procedure Rule 17 at each meeting. This 
needs a proposer, seconder and opportunity to vote, which is time consuming. 
Adding a Cabinet Procedure rule to allow chair’s discretion on this matter would 
remove the need for this procedure at every meeting. It is proposed that a 
Cabinet Procedure Rule is added (after the current Rule 16) called Rule 17 –
Chair’s discretion regarding questions on reports, which states “The Chair at 
their discretion may allow non-Cabinet Councillors in attendance at the meeting 
to ask questions on reports as they are introduced.” The Procedure Rules 
following this new Rule 17 would be renumbered accordingly. 

 
 

Page 4



 
 
3.0 Conclusion  

 
3.1 The Committee is asked to consider and approve the amendments to the 

Constitution set out in this report. 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing) None.  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
None identified.   

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
None identified. 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources; Information Services; 
Property; Open Spaces: None.   

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS  
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
The Section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no further comments. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Lancaster | LGBCE Site 

Contact Officer: Debbie Chambers 
Telephone: 01524 582057 
E-mail: dchambers@lancaster.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 5

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/north-west/lancashire/lancaster


COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE   

 
 

The Future Buildings Consultation  
Consultation on changes to Part L (conservation of fuel and power) and Part F 

(ventilation) of the Building Regulations for non-domestic buildings and 
dwellings; and overheating in new residential buildings. 

25th March 2021 

 
Report of the Director of Economic Growth and 

Regeneration 
 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
To advise Members of Part Two of the Government’s consultation on changes to Part L 
(conservation of fuel and power) and Part F (ventilation) of the Building Regulations for non-
domestic buildings and dwellings; and overheating in new residential buildings. 
 
The consultation commenced on 19th January 2021 and runs until 13th April 2021.  
 

The government is seeking views on: 
Non-domestic buildings  
• The vision for the Future Buildings Standard that the Government propose will start to apply 
to new non-domestic buildings from 2025 onwards;  
• The Government’s preferred option to uplift energy efficiency standards for new non-
domestic buildings in 2021 which is intended to deliver a 27% reduction in carbon emissions 
on average per building compared to the existing Part L standard. As well as improving the 
energy efficiency of new buildings in the short term, the interim uplift will ensure that 
construction professionals and supply chains are working to higher specifications in readiness 
for the proposed introduction of the Future Buildings Standard from 2025;  
• Improvements to the non-domestic energy modelling methodologies;  
• Improvements to standards when work is carried out in existing non-domestic buildings; 
• Changes to Part F (ventilation) and its associated Approved Document guidance, for both 
new and existing non-domestic buildings; and  
• Proposals to introduce a new overheating mitigation requirement in the Building Regulations 
for new non-domestic buildings which are classed as ‘residential’.  
 
Domestic buildings  
• Proposals to introduce a new overheating mitigation requirement in the Building Regulations 
for new homes;  
• Improvements to standards when work is carried out in existing homes; 
 • Reconsulting on the Fabric Energy Efficiency Standard, as well as other standards for 
building services in new homes and guidance on the calibration of devices that carry out 
airtightness testing; and  
• Changes to Part F (ventilation) and its associated Approved Document guidance. 
 

This report is public. 
 

Page 6Agenda Item 6



RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

(1) That the draft response to the consultation, at Appendix 1 of the Report, is 
submitted as a formal response from Lancaster City Council. 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 The consultation seeks views on changes to Part L (conservation of fuel and power) 

and Part F (ventilation) of the Building Regulations for non-domestic buildings and 
dwellings; and overheating in new residential buildings. These changes are aimed at: 

 
• Reducing carbon emissions and improving the energy efficiency of buildings. 
• Ensuring work done to existing homes and non-domestic buildings is done to 

a high standard of energy efficiency. 
• Instigating changes in specifications, skills and supply chains needed to 

stimulate innovation and learning in the sector, to prepare industry for the 
Future Buildings Standard from 2025. 

• Providing adequate ventilation provisions to align with more airtight 
construction. 

• Reducing the risk of transmission of airborne illnesses in certain non-
domestic buildings. 

• Protecting the welfare of occupants who may be at risk of overheating in 
• residential buildings 

 
The above aims are to be achieved through: 
 

• An uplift to Part L of the Building Regulations, which deals with energy 
efficiency, for new non-domestic, existing non-domestic and existing 
domestic buildings. 

• An uplift to Part F of the Building Regulations, which deals with ventilation, 
for new non-domestic, existing non-domestic and existing domestic buildings. 

• Introduction of a new standard within the Building Regulations which will set 
standards to protect against overheating in residential buildings. 

 
1.2 Heating and powering buildings accounts for 40% of the UK’s energy usage. 

Decarbonising buildings is outlined in the Clean Growth Strategy as essential to 
ensure that the UK reaches net carbon zero by 2050. The Future Buildings Standard 
is intended to support the UK in reaching this target.  

 
1.3 Additionally, the Future Buildings standards addresses over heating in homes. An 

estimated 2,000 deaths per year can be attributed to heat-related causes in England 
and Wales. By 2050, this number is projected to be over 7,000 per year as a result of 
climate change. The new standards are aimed at protecting homes from overheating.  

 
1.4 The consultation seeks responses to 132 questions, as posed in the consultation 

document.  Officers have provided a draft response to the consultation document at 
Appendix 1. Subject to this committee’s agreement, the response, or a version 
amended to reflect Members’ specific concerns, will be submitted as Lancaster City 
Council’s formal response to the consultation.  

 
 
2.0 Details of Consultation 
 
2.1 The Future Buildings Standard Consultation ends on 13 April 2021. The full 

documentation can be viewed using the following link: 

Page 7



 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-future-buildings-standard 

 
3.0 Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment) 
 

 Option 1:  To formally 
respond to the Future 
Buildings Standard 
Consultation with the 
comments provided in 
Appendix 1 of this 
report 

Option 2:  To formally 
respond with any other 
comments 

Option 3:  To provide 
no response to the 
consultation 

Advantages 
 

The views of the 
Council will be 
considered by the 
Government when the 
policy details are 
formulated. 

The views of the 
Council will be 
considered by the 
Government when the 
policy details are 
formulated. 

No advantages 

Disadvantages 
 

While the Council may 
submit comments, 
they may not result in 
the issues raised 
being reflected in the 
final policy. 

While the Council may 
submit comments, 
they may not result in 
the issues raised 
being reflected in the 
final policy. 

That the 
views/opinions of the 
Council will not be 
taken into account and 
future opportunities to 
feed into the process 
will be lost. 

Risks 
 

The Future Buildings 
Standard Consultation 
policy may not be 
revised to reflect the 
views of the Council. 

The Future Buildings 
Standard Consultation 
may not be revised to 
reflect the views of the 
Council. 

That the 
views/opinions of the 
Council will not be 
taken into account and 
future opportunities to 
feed into the process 
will be lost. 

  
4.0 Officer Preferred Option (and comments) 
 
4.1 Option 1 is the preferred Officer opinion. This option ensures that Lancaster City 

Council provides its views and will be able to make further comments should 
revisions and further consultation be carried out.  

 
 
5.0 Conclusion 
 
5.1 It is recommended that the response set out in Appendix 1 is submitted as Lancaster 

City Council’s formal response to the consultation. 
 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing): 
 
Responding to the consultation is Lancaster City Council’s opportunity to ensure that 
sustainability considerations are taken into account in the development of the policy. 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no legal implications stemming from this report.  

Page 8

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-future-buildings-standard


 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no financial implications resulting directly from the recommendations.  
  

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces 
 
Building Control functions are carried out by the Council and private Approved Inspectors. As 
plans are assessed and inspections carried the options proposed in the consultation statement 
are unlikely to have a significant impact on resources. The enhancement of accessibility and 
adaptability standards would have an impact upon the development of homes that the Council 
may wish to carryout. Additional resource may be required to meet the standards and will need 
to be taken into account when any such schemes are planned. 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The s151 Officer has been consulted and has no comments to add. 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
Responses to consultations such as this lie within the Terms of Reference of this Committee. 
The Monitoring Officer has no further comments to add. 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
The MHCLG Future Buildings Standard 
Consultation on changes to Part L 
(conservation of fuel and power) and Part F 
(ventilation) of the Building Regulations for 
non-domestic buildings and dwellings; and 
overheating in new residential buildings can 
be viewed at the following link: 
 
 
The Future Buildings Standard consultation 
(publishing.service.gov.uk) 
 

Contact Officer:  Diane Neville 
Telephone:  01524 582335 
Email:  dneville@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref:  N/A 
 
  
 

  
 

Appendix 1 – Proposed Lancaster City Council response to the consultation  
 
The consultation poses a series of questions to which the following responses are 
recommended. 
 

Section A: Non-Domestic Buildings  
 

The Future Buildings Standard  
 

Page 9

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/956037/Future_Buildings_Standard_consultation_document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/956037/Future_Buildings_Standard_consultation_document.pdf


Question 1): Our aim is that buildings constructed to the Future Buildings Standard will 
be capable of becoming carbon neutral over time as the electricity grid and heat 
networks decarbonise.  
 
Do you agree that the outline of the Future Buildings Standard in this chapter meets 
this aim?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence or alternative suggestions.  
 
Heating and powering buildings currently accounts for 40% of the UK’s total energy usage. By making 
our buildings more energy efficient and embracing smart technologies, we can cut energy bills, reduce 
demand for energy, and boost economic growth while meeting our targets for carbon reduction. The 
Committee on Climate Change has stated that achieving the UK’s net zero target will require the full 
decarbonisation of buildings by 2050. 
 
Question 2): We believe that developers will typically deploy heat pumps and heat 
networks to deliver the low carbon heating requirement of the Future Buildings 
Standard where practical. What are your views on this and in what circumstances 
should other low carbon technologies, such as direct electric heating or hydrogen, be 
used?  
 
1. Primarily “heat pumps” as there are no existing “Heat Networks” (District Heating) operating 
within the Council area. 
2. It may be possible that the Local Plan & Town Planning Approval Conditions (and/or new 
S.106 agreements) could be amended to encourage Heat Networks to be provided. 
 
Question 3) Do you agree that some non-domestic building types are more suitable for 
low carbon heating and hot water, and that some non-domestic building types are more 
challenging?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Extract from Consultation - The Future Buildings Standard  
1.4.4. Our vision for the Future Buildings Standard is designed to transition non-domestic buildings to 
use low-carbon heat sources for heating and hot water. This in turn means that new buildings 
constructed to the standard will be fit for the future with the ability to become carbon neutral over time 
as the electricity grid and heat networks decarbonise. This chapter will set out what we think the Future 
Buildings Standard will look like, as well as providing the technical specification of the standard, and 
outlines our envisaged timeline for the implementation of the standard.  
 
Interim uplift of energy and ventilation standards (Part L and Part F) for new and existing non-
domestic buildings  
1.4.5. In order to support the introduction of the Future Buildings Standard from 2025, we are consulting 
on two ambitious options to uplift the energy efficiency and ventilation standards for new non-domestic 
buildings in 2021. The Government’s preferred option will deliver a 27% reduction in carbon emissions 
on average per building compared to the existing standard. It will also ensure that construction 
professionals and supply chains are working to higher specifications in readiness for the introduction of 
the Future Buildings Standard.  
 

1.4.6. Many of the non-domestic buildings that will exist in 2050 have already been built. The 
Building Regulations provide an important opportunity to raise standards in existing buildings 
under certain circumstances, such as during the major refurbishment of an office building. We 
believe that we can make significant carbon savings by uplifting standards that apply when 

Page 10



this type of work is carried out, and this consultation sets out proposed uplifts in these 
standards.  
 
Introduction of overheating standards for new residential buildings in 2021  
1.4.8. The Future Homes Standard consultation set out the Government's ambition for increasing 
the energy efficiency of new homes, including increasing the standards for insulation. We need to 
ensure that improving the energy efficiency of new homes does not have unintended consequences by 
increasing the risk of overheating.  
 
This consultation sets out our proposals to reduce the risk of overheating in new residential buildings. 
This definition of ‘residential’ includes new homes and flats, schools, or other establishments where 
people sleep on the premises (including living accommodation for care of maintenance for older or 
disabled people and people under the age of 5 years), and residential colleges and halls of residence. 
It should be noted that residential colleges and halls of residence are considered under some definitions 
as non-domestic buildings but they will remain in scope for the proposed regulations.  

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Extract from Consultation - The Future Buildings Standard  

 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
2.3.4. A large proportion of this low-carbon heat will come from the national grid. The national grid has 
significantly decarbonised over recent years and will continue to decarbonise to become net zero over 
time. The transition to low-carbon heating and hot water systems means that new buildings constructed 
to the standard will be zero carbon ready, with the ability to decarbonise over time alongside the national 
grid and will not need to be retrofitted to meet our net zero commitment. 
  
Fabric standards  
2.3.8. Regardless of the non-domestic building type, we believe that providing the best fabric standards 
possible should be essential to buildings constructed to the Future Buildings Standard. The relationship 
between building fabric and energy demand in non-domestic buildings is complicated, and often a 
balance needs to be struck between heating, cooling demands, and daylight provision.  

Page 11



 
Heat pumps  
2.3.10. We anticipate that the installation of heat pumps will play an increasing role in delivering low 
carbon heat for buildings built to the Future Buildings Standard. Heat pumps come with the same low-
carbon benefits as direct electric heating (paragraphs 2.3.14 to 2.3.15) but deliver heat much more 
efficiently as they capture renewable heat from the atmosphere. Heat pumps can help to keep running 
costs down and reduce demand on the electricity grid.  
 
Heat networks  
2.3.12. Heat networks (also referred to as district heating) are distribution systems that take heat from 
a centralised source and deliver it to a number of different buildings.9 Heat networks in non-domestic 
buildings will form part of our overall plan for the future of low carbon heat, particularly in cities and high-
density areas.  
 
Heat networks can decarbonise more easily compared to other heat sources because new technologies 
can be added to the system with little disruption to individual buildings.  
 
2.3.13. Heat networks provide a unique opportunity to exploit larger scale, renewable and recovered 
waste heat sources that cannot be accessed at an individual building level. Heat networks also provide 
system benefits such as thermal storage and reducing the energy demand of the national grid at peak 
times.  
 
Direct electric water heating 
2.3.15. Direct electric water heating, for example instantaneous water heaters, may be an appropriate 
technology for heating hot water in some non-domestic buildings because there is no need to store 
large amounts of hot water. This is especially the case where demand for hot water is relatively low, 
such as in an office.  

 
Question 4): Do you agree with the allocation of building types to space and water 
heating demand types, as presented in Table 2.1 of this consultation document?  
a) Yes  
b) No 
 
Question 5): We would like to introduce the Future Buildings Standard for all buildings 
as quickly as possible. When do you think the Future Buildings Standard should 
introduce low carbon space heating for buildings with Type 1 or Type 2 demand 
(buildings that have space heating demand more suitable for heat pumps)?  
a) 2025 – our proposed date  
b) Another date (please specify)  
 
Please explain your reasoning.  
Appears to be proportionately balanced and realistic considering we are or should be already 
enroute to meet current British and European targets and standards, in conjunction with global 
objectives. Many of these have been incorporated into British standards and Building 
Regulations incrementally. Setting these aside, technological advances have been made in 
the industry with standards, equipment and products to make this become a reality. However, 
incentivisation needs to be harmonised with these advancements, including enhancements to 
the Building Regulations to help administer, enforce and improve uptake.   
 
Question 6): We would like to introduce the Future Buildings Standard for all buildings 
as quickly as possible. When do you think the Future Buildings Standard should 
introduce low carbon space heating for buildings with Type 3 demand (buildings that 
have space heating demand less suitable for heat pumps)?  
a) 2025  
b) Another date (please specify)  
 
Please explain your reasoning.  

Page 12



Similarly, to Q5 as it makes better sense to introduce them in tandem with domestic and other 
types of buildings. However, they need to engage with the wider industry. This will increase 
the acceptance of change and allow them to contribute to the changes required and help reach 
collective targets. It will also assist the regulator being able to introduce the changes at the 
same time of reducing the time they would normally need to promote the changes and educate 
the industry. This will thereby improve interpretation and understanding and have better 
chances of achieving the objectives of the changes.  
 
Question 7): We would like to introduce the Future Buildings Standard for all buildings 
as quickly as possible. When do you think the Future Buildings Standard should 
introduce low carbon water heating for buildings with Type 1 or Type 3 demand 
(buildings that have water heating demand more suitable for point-of-use heaters or 
heat pumps)?  
a) 2025 – our proposed date  
b) Another date (please specify)  
 
Please explain your reasoning.  
This is the same reasons as listed above under Q’s 5 and 6.  
 
Question 8): We would like to introduce the Future Buildings Standard for all buildings 
as quickly as possible. When do you think the Future Buildings Standard should 
introduce low carbon water heating for buildings with Type 2 demand (buildings that 
have water heating demand less suitable for point-of-use heaters or heat pumps)?  
a) 2025  
b) Another date (please specify)  
 
Please explain your reasoning.  
This is the same reasons as listed above under Q’s 5, 6 and 7.  
 

Interim uplift to Part L standards for non-domestic buildings  
 
Question 9): We would welcome any further suggestions, beyond those provided in this 
consultation, for improving the modelling process; Part L and Part F compliance; and 
the actual energy performance of non-domestic buildings.  
Please provide related evidence.  
No Comment other than to recommend that the changes should be implemented in tandem 
with considering demand types and building types. 
 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
3.5.3. We are therefore proposing the following three performance metrics for new buildings to be 
measured against:  
 i) Primary energy target;  
 ii) CO2 emission target; and  
 iii) Minimum standards for fabric and fixed building services.  
3.5.4. Primary energy is energy from renewable and non-renewable sources which has not undergone 
any conversion or transformation process. It is a measure of the total energy used including energy 
losses from extraction, processing, conversion, and transportation. Primary energy is a new measure 
(for Building Regulations) and is discussed in more detail in the following section.  

 
Question 10): What level of uplift to the energy efficiency standards for non-domestic 
buildings in the Building Regulations should be introduced in 2021?  
a) Option 1 – average 22% CO2 reduction  
b) Option 2 – average 27% CO2 reduction  
c) No change  
d) Other level of uplift (please specify)  

Page 13



 
Please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence or alternative suggestions 
where applicable.  
This level is the Government’s preference.  However, if businesses and individuals were better 
incentivised and in some cases fully subsidised, we would be better placed to achieve and 
probably exceed these targets. If the COVID pandemic showed anything, its level of 
expenditure and support the Government can make, when/where its most needed. Global 
Warming and Climate Change should also be viewed as critical. 
 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
2.3.19 The National Calculation Methodology takes a theoretical building of the same size 
and shape as the actual building and assigns standardised properties for fabric and services 
- this is known as the ‘notional building’. The carbon and primary energy rate of the notional 
building set the targets for the actual building.  
The proposed National Calculation Method Modelling Guide for 2021, described in Section 3.6, sets 
out notional building specifications for the following low-carbon fuels:  
 • Biofuel  
 • Electricity (heat pump)  
 • Electricity (direct)  
 • Waste heat  
 • Certain district heating systems (Heat Networks) 

 
We believe that these specifications provide a reasonable starting point for the Future 
Buildings Standard where the notional building uses any one of these fuels.  
We will also consider whether minimum fabric standards also need to be reviewed for the 
Future Buildings Standard. 
Question 11): Do you agree with the way that we are proposing to apply primary energy 
as the principal performance metric?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 12): Do you agree with using CO2 as the secondary performance metric?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
Changes to minimum standards for building services for new and existing non-domestic buildings, 
including proposals to introduce a new regulation to ensure buildings have self-regulating devices when 
a heating appliance is installed and the installation of building automation and control systems; Practical 
examples: mandating thermostatic radiator valves or local heating sub-zones, with their own temp and 
time controls, to reflect user’s & building uses, etc. 

 
Question 13): Do you agree with the approach to calculating CO2 and primary energy 
factors, referred to in paragraph 3.5.7 of this consultation document?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence or 
alternative suggestions.  
 
Question 14): Do you agree with the proposals for natural gas being assigned as the 
heating fuel for any fuels with a worse CO2 emission factor than natural gas?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence or 
alternative suggestions.  

Page 14



To not use the real heating fuels would distort the market and reduce the accuracy of any 
energy use models and the energy use of a proposed real building performance. 
 
Question 15): Do you agree with our proposal of using a hybrid electric/heat pump 
heating system in the notional building when electricity is specified as a heating fuel?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence or 
alternative suggestions.  
 
Question 16): Do you agree with the proposal for the treatment of domestic hot water 
in the notional building? 
 
a) Yes  
b) No 
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide alternative suggestions.  
 
Question 17): Do you agree with the proposal for connecting to an existing heat 
network, as presented in the draft NCM modelling guide?  
a) Yes  
b) No, they give too much of an advantage to heat networks  
c) No, they do not give enough of an advantage to heat networks  
d) No, I disagree for another reason  
 
If you answered no (b, c or d), please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence 
or alternative suggestions.  
There are no Heat Networks available in our Council District and so it is a false model design 
assumption. Unless the developer was proposing to install a Heat Network. 
 
Question 18): Do you agree with the proposal for connecting to a new heat network, as 
presented in the draft NCM modelling guide?  
a) Yes  
b) No, they give too much of an advantage to heat networks  
c) No, they do not give enough of an advantage to heat networks  
d) No, I disagree for another reason  
 
If you answered no (b, c or d), please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence 
or alternative suggestions.  
As per Q17, there are no Heat Networks available in our Council District and so it is a false 
model design assumption. Unless the developer was proposing to install a Heat Network. 
 
Question 19): Do you agree with the proposed changes to the National Calculation 
Methodology Modelling Guide and activity database?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but additional changes should be made  
c) No  
 
If you answered b or c, please explain your reasoning and provide alternative suggestions.  
 
Question 20): We would welcome any further suggestions for revising the outputs from 
SBEM, which would enable easier checking by building control on building completion. 
Please provide related evidence. 
No Comment  

Page 15



 
Extract from consultation: 
Limiting heat gains in non-domestic buildings.  
 
3.6.19. The current Part L guidance for non-domestic buildings includes standards for the maximum 
solar gain of a building (i.e., heat gains from the sun through windows). The intention of this is to reduce 
the use of any comfort cooling systems in place and reduce the need for cooling being installed if it is 
not already present.  
 
3.6.20. In the current guidance, limiting solar gain can be shown by demonstrating that solar gains are 
no greater than would occur through a reference glazing system. We are proposing to increase the 
solar performance requirements by improving the performance of the reference glazing in reducing 
solar gains (the performance measurement for this is known as a ‘g-value’). 
While we recognise that solar control glass can reduce visible light transmission, many modern glazing 
systems can still achieve high levels of solar control while being very transparent to visible light.  
 
The details of this can be found in the draft NCM modelling guide and in Table 4.3 of the draft Approved 
Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings.  
 
NOTE: There are new specific regulations (New AD_’X’ – Over-Heating) being proposed to stop “over-
heating” of future (2021) residential buildings & apartments’. 

 
Question 21): Do you agree with the proposals for limiting heat gains in non-domestic 
buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, they go too far  
c) No, they do not go far enough  
d) No, I disagree for another reason  
 
If you answered no (b, c or d), please explain your reasoning and provide alternative 
suggestions.  
Extract from consultation: 
3.7.1. To reflect the importance of providing a thermally efficient building, we propose that standards 
for new non-domestic buildings should continue to include minimum levels of fabric performance. We 
are proposing to increase the minimum standards for roofs, walls, floors, windows, and external doors.  

Page 16



 
 
Question 22): Do you agree with the proposed minimum standards for fabric 
performance in new non-domestic buildings as presented in Table 3.2 of this 
consultation document? (See Above) 
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
d) No, I disagree for another reason  
 
If you answered no (b, c or d), please explain your reasoning and provide supporting 
evidence or alternative suggestions.  
 

Page 17



 
 
See www.bregroup.com/sap/sap10/ for BR 442 (Latest Version) U-Values 
 
Question 23): Do you agree with the proposed minimum standards for fabric 
performance of new thermal elements in existing non-domestic buildings as presented 
in Table 3.3 of this consultation document?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
d) No, I disagree for another reason  
 
If you answered no (b, c or d), please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence 
or alternative suggestions.  

Page 18

http://www.bregroup.com/sap/sap10/


 
Question 24): Do you agree with the draft guidance in paragraph 4.15 of the draft 
Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings on reducing unwanted 
air infiltration when carrying out work to existing non-domestic buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 25): Do you agree that the limiting U-value for rooflights in new and existing 
non-domestic buildings should be based on a rooflight in a horizontal position, as 
detailed in paragraph 4.4 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than 
dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 26): Do you agree that we should adopt the latest version of BR 443 for 
calculating U-values in new and existing non-domestic buildings, as detailed in 
paragraph 4.1 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 27): Do you agree with the newly proposed minimum efficiencies for natural 
gas, oil and LPG boiler and domestic hot water system installations in new non-
domestic buildings in Section 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings 
other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
 
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 28): Do you agree with the proposed set of standards for air distribution 
systems for new non-domestic buildings in Section 6 of draft Approved Document L, 
volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
 
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 29): Do you agree with the proposals for self-regulating devices for new non-
domestic buildings, as set out in Sections 5 and 6 of draft Approved Document L, 
volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 

Page 19



Question 30): Do you agree with the minimum efficacy proposals for lighting in new 
non-domestic buildings in Section 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings 
other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
 
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 31): Do you agree with the proposals for cooling in new non-domestic 
buildings in Section 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than 
dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
 
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Extract from Consultation: 
building automation and control systems. 
3.10.17. We have proposed to set the specification of BACS as a ‘Class A’ system using EN 15232, on 
the understanding that this is the necessary specification to meet ISO 16484.  
It also provides a high level of control, and our analysis suggests it is cost-effective.  

 
Question 32): Do you agree with the proposals to require building automation and 
control systems (BACS) in new non-domestic buildings, when such buildings have a 
heating or air-conditioning system over 290kW?  
a) Yes  
b) No, a different trigger point should be used  
c) No, I do not agree that building automation and control systems should be required 
in new buildings  
d) No, I disagree for another reason  
 
If you answered no (b, c or d), please explain your reasoning and provide alternative 
suggestions. Please also highlight any unintended consequences that may result from setting 
this standard.  
 
Extract from Consultation: 
3.10.19. We propose to extend the commissioning requirements for new non-domestic buildings to both 
BACS, and on-site electricity generation systems.  
 
3.10.20. The Government wants to ensure that commissioning is carried out as effectively as possible.  
 
We are therefore proposing to make the requirements for commissioning much clearer by providing 
a dedicated section in Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings, which will set 
out the legal requirement as well as guidance on how to meet the legal requirements in normal 
circumstances. 
  
We also propose to expand the guidance on commissioning by referencing specific commissioning 
guidance beyond the currently referenced CIBSE Guide M.  
 
Question 33): Do you agree with the technical specification for new building automation and 
control systems as EN 15232, Class A?  

a) Yes  
b) No, the requirements go too far  
c) No, the requirements do not go far enough  
 

Page 20



If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 34): Do you agree with the proposals for improving the commissioning guidance for 
new non-domestic buildings in Section 8 and 9 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: 
buildings other than dwellings?  

a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
d) No, I disagree for another reason  
If you answered no (b, c, or d), please explain your reasoning and provide alternative 
suggestions.  
 
Question 35): Do you agree with the proposals for requirements relating to the 
assessment of overall energy performance of building services installations and 
providing information to building owners for new non-domestic buildings given in 
sections 8 and 9 of Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings? 
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Extract from Consultation:  

 
 
Question 36): Do you agree with the guidance proposals for adequate sizing and 
controls of building services systems in new non-domestic buildings, as detailed in 
Sections 5 and 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than 
dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, I do not agree with providing guidance on this  
c) No, the guidance should be improved  
 
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning. 
 
Making buildings fit for installing low carbon heat 

Page 21



3.10.26. We propose that wet space heating systems in non-domestic buildings should be 
designed to operate with a flowrate temperature of 55°C or lower in the final heating circuit.  
To encourage this, we could either:  
 
• design the notional building in the National Calculation Methodology to give carbon and primary 

energy credit for heating systems designed to operate at temperatures of 55°C or lower; or  
• set a minimum standard in the Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings 

that heating systems  

 
 
  

Page 22



Question 37): Do you agree with the proposal that wet space heating systems in new 
buildings should be designed to operate with a flow temperature of 55°C or lower?  
a) Yes, through a minimum standard set in paragraph 5.9 of the Approved Document L, 
volume 2: buildings other than dwellings  
b) Yes, through carbon and primary energy credit in SBEM  
c) Yes, by another means  
d) No, the temperature should be below 55°C  
e) No, this standard should not be applied to all new buildings  
f) No, I disagree for another reason  
 
Please explain your reasoning.  
Needs to be more specific – However, if the return temperature is 55% or above it may not 
operate efficiently – i.e. a condensing boiler will not produce condensate and will have similar 
efficiencies to non-condensing boilers  
 
Question 38): Do you agree with the proposals to clarify, rationalise and simplify the 
guidance for building services in new non-domestic buildings, and to incorporate the 
standards of the Non-Domestic Building Services guidance into the main body of the 
Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
No one reads the existing third-tier documents. 
 
Question 39): Do you agree with the proposals to simplify the requirements in the 
Building Regulations for the consideration of high-efficiency alternative systems in 
new non-domestic buildings?  
a) Yes 
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
As similar to above, no one reads the existing third-tier documents. 
 
Question 40): Do you agree with the efficiency proposals for replacement fixed building 
services in existing non-domestic buildings as detailed in paragraphs 5.4 to 5.7 of draft 
Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Extract from Consultation: 
Natural gas, LPG and oil boilers and domestic hot water  
3.11.2. We propose that the increases in minimum seasonal efficiencies in new non-domestic buildings, 
detailed in paragraph 3.10.2, also apply to installations in existing non-domestic buildings.  
 

Question 41): Do you agree with the newly proposed minimum efficiencies for natural 
gas, oil and LPG boiler and domestic hot water system installations in existing non-
domestic buildings in Section 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings 
other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
 

Page 23



If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
  

Page 24



Question 42): Should minimum boiler efficiency standards in existing non-domestic 
buildings still benefit from relaxations through the use of heating efficiency credits?  
a) Yes, boiler installations should continue to benefit from heating efficiency credits  
b) No, boiler installations should no longer benefit from heating efficiency credits (the 
Government’s proposal)  
 
If you answered yes, please explain your reasoning.  
Not needed as modern boilers are far more efficient than those they replace. 
  
Question 43): Do you agree with the proposed set of standards for air distribution 
systems for existing non-domestic buildings in Section 6 of draft Approved Document 
L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
 
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Self-regulating devices  
3.11.7. We propose that the new regulations in the Building Regulations 2010 requiring self-regulating 
devices in new buildings outlined in paragraphs 3.10.5. to 3.10.7, which specify that buildings must 
have self-regulating devices when a heating or cooling system is installed, also apply to the replacement 
of a heating appliance in an existing building. 
  

Question 44): Do you agree with our proposed approach and guidance to mandating 
self-regulating controls in existing non-domestic buildings, including technical and 
functional feasibility, as detailed in Sections 5 and 6 of draft Approved Document L, 
volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
These upgrades to controls are easily installed and are very likely to be cost effective. 
 
3.11.12. The standards for existing buildings would only apply when the Building Regulations are 
triggered by relevant building works, such as a building refurbishment. They would not be applicable in 
other scenarios, such as when replacing an individual lamp within an existing luminaire.  

 
Question 45): Do you agree with the minimum efficacy proposals for lighting in existing 
non-domestic buildings in Section 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings 
other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Cooling  
3.11.13. We propose that the minimum standards for comfort cooling systems in new non-domestic 
buildings detailed in paragraphs 3.10.11 to 3.10.14 also apply for installations in existing non-domestic 
buildings.  

 
Question 46): Do you agree with the proposals for cooling in existing non-domestic 
buildings in Section 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than 
dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  

Page 25



c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
Question 47): Do you agree with the proposals that when Building Automation and 
Control System (BACS) is installed in an existing non-domestic building with a heating 
or air-conditioning system over 290 kW, it should meet the same minimum standards 
as new non-domestic buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, a different trigger point should be used  
c) No, a different standard should be used  
d) No, for another reason  
 
Commissioning and providing information.  
3.11.15. Our proposals for commissioning in new non-domestic buildings are designed to also apply to 
work on existing non-domestic buildings. Our proposed changes for extending commissioning 
requirements to Building Automation and Control systems, and on-site electricity generation systems, 
and for providing clearer commissioning requirements are detailed in paragraphs 3.10.18 to 3.10.22.  

 
Question 48): Do you agree with the proposals for requirements relating to the 
assessment of overall energy performance of building services installations and 
providing information to building owners for existing non-domestic buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, I do not agree with providing this guidance  
c) No, the guidance should be improved  
 
Sizing building services systems  
3.11.17. We propose that the new requirements and associated guidance for the sizing and controls of 
building services systems, detailed in paragraph 3.10.23, also apply in new non-domestic buildings also 
apply to installations in existing non-domestic buildings.  
 
3.11.18. We propose that measures for new non-domestic buildings that would make it easier to install 
low carbon heating in future, detailed in paragraphs 3.10.24 to 3.10.28, also apply to existing non-
domestic buildings. In existing non-domestic buildings, we are proposing that when a whole wet space 
heating system is replaced, including both the heating appliance (e.g. a boiler) and the emitters (e.g. a 
radiator), that the new system is designed to run at 55°C.  
 
The proposal would ensure that the existing non-domestic building is ready for low carbon heat, such 
as heat pumps or district heating.  

 
Question 49): Do you agree with the guidance proposals for adequate sizing and 
controls of building services systems in existing non-domestic buildings, as detailed 
in Sections 5 and 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than 
dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, do not agree with providing this guidance  
c) No, the guidance should be improved  
 
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 50): Do you agree with the proposal that when whole wet space heating 
systems (i.e. boiler and radiators) are replaced in existing non-domestic buildings the 
replacement system should be designed to operate with a flow temperature of 55°C or 
lower?  
a) Yes, through a minimum standard set in paragraph 5.9 of Approved Document L, 
volume 2: buildings other than dwellings  
b) Yes, through carbon and primary energy credit in SBEM  
c) Yes, by another means  

Page 26



d) No, the temperature should be below 55°C  
e) No, this standard should not be applied to all existing buildings  
f) No, I disagree for another reason  
Question 51): Do you agree with the proposals to restructure the guidance for building 
services in existing non-domestic buildings, and to incorporate the standards of the 
Non-Domestic Building Services guidance into the main body of the Approved 
Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 52): Do you agree the Government should continue to provide guidance for 
minimum building services efficiencies in existing non-domestic buildings, if the 
standard does not go significantly further than the Ecodesign regulations?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the Ecodesign regulations are sufficient  
c) No  
 
A building should be designed to minimum standards & guidance available in one published 
document. 
 
Extract from Consultation: 
3.12 Part L guidance for non-domestic buildings  
3.12.1. The new Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings is provided alongside 
this consultation document, with major technical changes highlighted in yellow. The new guidance aims 
to be clearer about what is expected of builders and installers in complying with the regulatory 
requirements. Approved Documents deal with complex information and are an essential resource relied 
upon by those who enforce the regulations, advise on compliance or must comply with the regulations. 
The Independent Review of the Building Regulations and Building Safety highlighted that the 
complexity of the current regulations and Approved Documents guidance “can lead to confusion and 
misinterpretation in their application…regulations and guidance must be simplified and unambiguous.” 
 
In line with this recommendation, and to make the minimum standard as clear as possible, 
supplementary information has been removed. Sections 3.10.29 and 3.11.19 set out some proposals 
to simplify, rationalise and clarify the guidance for new and existing non-domestic building services.  
This is a comprehensive, but not exhaustive, list of other guidance that has been simplified, rationalised, 
or clarified:  
 
• inclusion of cavity wall insulation in renovating a thermal element;  
• removal of guidance on Energy Performance Certificates;  
• removal of advice on low and zero carbon technologies;  
• removal of advice on upgrading windows and doors when only replacing glazing panes or the door 

leaf;  
• removal of advice on weather stripping secondary glazing;  
• removal of guidance that an approach to demonstrate thermal bridging has been limited is  

 
to adopt Accredited Construction Details at www.gov.uk;  
 
• removal of design considerations for swimming pool basins;  
• removal of advice on cost-effective renovations of thermal elements as a compensating measure 

for the thermal performance of an extension;  
• removal of examples of renovating a thermal element on the inside or outside of the building;  
• removal of example of economic payback for consequential improvements;  
• updates to external references in Appendix E and Appendix F;  
• removal of advice on the building control body failing to receive a commissioning notice; and  
• removal of a summary of the notional building specifications.  

 
Question 53): Do you agree with the changes made to simplify, rationalise and clarify 
the guidance, and the updates to external references in Appendix E and Appendix F, in 

Page 27



Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings, as outlined in 
paragraph 3.12.1 of the consultation document?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but not with the changes to the supplementary guidance  
c) Yes, but not with the external references  
d) No  
 
Extract from Consultation: 
3.12.2. Current guidance in Approved Document L2B: Conservation of fuel and power in 
existing buildings other than dwellings (2010 edition incorporating 2010, 2011, 2013 and 2016 
amendments) requires that if am existing building has over 1000m2 floor area and proposed 
building work meets certain criteria, further work may need to be undertaken to improve the 
energy efficiency of the entire building. 
  
Question 54): Do you agree that the measures in Tables D.1 and D.2 of Appendix D of 
Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings are likely to be 
technically, functionally, and economically feasible under normal circumstances?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
modular and portable buildings 
3.13.4. In light of the proposals for uplifting the Part L minimum standard for new buildings, and the 
introduction of primary energy targets, we have reviewed the relaxation factors given to modular and 
portable buildings. We are proposing that the relaxation factors should continue to apply, but that we 
should use this opportunity to recalibrate these factors in such a way that:  
• encourages older and less efficient building modules to be upgraded when used 

for buildings on short-term hire, and;  
• sets a higher standard for long-term hire or permanent buildings constructed  

using refurbished modules, recognising the greater potential for improvements 
to these building applications.  

 
Question 55): Do you agree with the proposals for relaxation factors for modular and 
portable buildings, as detailed in Tables 2.2 and 2.3 of draft Approved Document L, 
volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the requirements go too far  
c) No, the requirements do not go far enough  
 
3.14 Airtightness  
Introduction of the Pulse airtightness methodology  
3.14.2. The Pulse test has been developed for application in smaller buildings, particularly dwellings, 
although may in theory be used in larger buildings. We are seeking views on whether this method would 
also be appropriate for use in non-domestic buildings and whether we should allow Pulse to be used to 
determine airtightness for complying with the energy efficiency requirements for buildings other than 
dwellings. Details on the Pulse measurement system can be found at: 
 
https://buildtestsolutions.com/air-leakage-testing/pulse/ (technical reports can be accessed via the 
downloads tab).  
 

Question 56): Do you think that the Pulse methodology should be an approved means 
of demonstrating airtightness for non-domestic buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence.  
 

Page 28



Question 57): Do you agree that we should adopt an independent approved airtightness 
testing methodology such as the CIBSE draft methodology for non-domestic 
buildings?  
a) Yes, and the CIBSE methodology is appropriate (TM23) 
b) Yes, but with a methodology other than CIBSE  
c) No, an independent approved airtightness methodology shouldn’t be adopted.  
 
3.14.5. In the Future Homes Standard consultation, guidance in the Approved Document L, 
volume 1 was inconsistent with what was written in the CIBSE methodology on when 
calibration of devices that carry out airtightness testing should take place. This is detailed in 
paragraph 7.2 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings, 
provided alongside this consultation.  
 
Question 58): Do you agree with the proposal for guidance on the calibration of devices 
that carry out airtightness testing in new and existing non-domestic buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
3.15.2. It is important that new non-domestic buildings have the right level of metering to 
measure performance accurately. We are proposing to continue to reference CIBSE’s TM39 
as the standard to which new buildings should be sub-metered. As well as meeting CIBSE’s 
TM39, we are proposing that the sub-metering installation should allow a useful comparison 
to be made between design-stage energy forecasts, such as TM54, and measured results. 
Further detail can be found in section 5 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings 
other than dwellings.  
 
Question 59): Do you agree with the proposed approach to energy sub-metering, as 
detailed in Section 5 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than 
dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
3.15.4. We are proposing that, as well as the Part L compliance calculations, the forecast energy 
performance of non-domestic buildings should be modelled and handed to the building owner at 
completion stage for the purposes of energy benchmarking. 
We propose to introduce this requirement for buildings with a floor area of over 1,000m2.  

Question 60): Do you agree with the proposed approach to energy forecasting, as 
detailed in paragraph 9.4 of draft Approved Document L, volume 2: buildings other than 
dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, I do not agree with the proposed approach  
c) No, energy forecasting should not form part of the Building Regulations  
 
3.16 Transitional arrangements  
3.16.1. Whenever changes to the Building Regulations or approved standards take place, 
transitional arrangements apply. When a developer submits a building notice, initial notice or full plans 
application to the local authority, the Building Regulations standards in place at the time of the 
application will apply, so long as work under the building notice or full plans application has already 
started or starts within a specified period of the notice being given. 
The transitional arrangements exist for good reason – they mean that developers have assurance about 
the standards to which they must build, and that they should not have to make material amendments 
to work which is already underway when new regulations are implemented.  
3.16.2. We propose that where a building notice, initial notice or full plans application is submitted to 
the local authority, transitional arrangements should apply. This means that the existing energy 
efficiency requirements and guidance would apply to that work.  

Page 29



We propose that work must commence on individual buildings within the building 
notice/plans to benefit from the transitional arrangements, rather than apply site wide as they 
have in the past. 
 We also propose that transitional arrangements would apply to work to a building other than 
a dwelling within that notice/plans so long as work on that building has commenced within 12 
months of new regulations coming into effect.  
 
Question 61): Do you agree with the proposals for transitional arrangements for 
buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide alternative suggestions.  
 
4. Interim Uplift to Part F standards for non-domestic buildings  

4.1 Chapter Summary  
4.1.1. This chapter includes the following proposals in respect of all non-domestic buildings:  

• changes to Approved Document F - Ventilation (2010 edition incorporating 2010 and 
2013 amendments) to simplify the guidance in line with the principles presented in the 
Future Homes Standard consultation; and  

• measures to mitigate the Interim uplift to Part F standards for non-domestic buildings.  
4.3.1 We propose to split this into two separate volumes, one each for domestic and non-

domestic buildings. This will align the structure of Approved Document Part F with 
Approved Document Part L, and we believe will provide greater clarity for users.  

 

 
Intention  
In the Secretary of State’s view, requirement F1(1) is met if the building other than a dwelling is provided 
with a means of ventilation which achieves all of the following.  
a. extracts water vapour and indoor air pollutants from areas where they are produced in significant 
quantities before they spread through the building – by following guidance for extract ventilation in 
Section 1 for the relevant building type.  
b. supplies a minimum level of outdoor air for occupant’s health – by following guidance for whole 
building ventilation in Section 1 for the relevant building type.  
c. rapidly dilutes indoor air pollutants and water vapour when necessary in occupiable rooms and 
sanitary accommodation – by following guidance for purge ventilation in Section 1 for the relevant 
building type.  
d. For offices, monitors the indoor air quality – paragraph 1.39 – 1.41.  
e. Minimises the ingress of external pollutants – by following guidance in Section 2.  
f. provides all of the following as far as reasonably practicable:  
   
i. low levels of noise, by following guidance in paragraphs 1.5 to 1.8;  
ii. is easy to maintain, by following guidance in paragraph 1.9;  
 iii. protection from rain;  
 iv. protection from cold draughts;  
 v. does not significantly risk occupants’ health.  
 

Page 30



In the Secretary of State’s view, requirement F1(1) is met for work on an existing building other 
than a dwelling by following guidance in Section 3. 
 
Question 62): Do you agree with the proposed guidance in Section 1 and Section 2 of 
Approved Document F, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings on minimising the 
ingress of external pollutants and on the proper installation of ventilation systems in 
non-domestic buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 63): Do you agree with the proposed guidance for reducing noise nuisance 
for ventilation systems in non-domestic buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 64) Do you agree with the additional guidance provided in paragraphs 1.18 to 
1.26 of the draft Approved Document F, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings on 
the installation of ventilation systems?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 65): Do you agree that the guidance in Appendix B of the draft Approved 
Document F, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings provides an appropriate basis 
for setting minimum ventilation standards?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 66): Do you agree with the list of industry guidance presented in Section 1 of 
draft Approved Document F, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but additional guidance should be provided  
c) No  
 
Question 67): Do you agree with the list of references to industry guidance presented 
in Appendix C and Appendix D in the draft Approved Document F, volume 2: buildings 
other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the Government should amend the list of references  
c) No, for another reason  
 
4.3.7. The new Approved Document F, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings aims to be clearer 
about what is expected of builders and installers in complying with the regulatory requirements. 
Approved Documents deal with complex information and are an essential resource relied upon by those 
who enforce the regulations, advise on compliance or need to comply with the regulations. The 
Independent Review of the Building Regulations and Building Safety highlighted that the complexity of 
the current regulations and Approved Documents guidance “can lead to confusion and misinterpretation 
in their application…regulations and guidance must be simplified and unambiguous.” In line with this 
recommendation, and to make the minimum standard as clear as possible, some of the supplementary 
text has been removed, new information has been added, and relevant external guidance has been 
referenced.  
 
This is a comprehensive, but not exhaustive, list of the information that has been simplified, rationalised 
or clarified:  
 
• additional advice on ventilation through infiltration;  
• additional guidance on providing clear, non-technical information;  

Page 31



• change in terminology to background ventilators;  
• removal of guidance which is either only applicable to dwellings or does not form part of the Part 

F minimum standard, including the following:  
o general information on the purpose and effectiveness of ventilation, fire precautions and 

modular and portable buildings  
o advice on measures to avoid legionella contamination.   
o advice on recirculated air in air-conditioning, available from HSE  
o guidance on adequate space for plant maintenance  
o advice on food and beverage preparation areas  
o advice that workplace regulations apply to most places where people work  
o advice on complex urban layouts in ventilation provision  
o advice on trickle ventilators, available at: www.ggf.org.uk  
o guidance on ductwork leakage testing, available on www.hvca.org.uk  
o some defined terms which only apply to the dwellings guidance such as closable opening, 

gross internal volume, permanent opening, and wet room.  
 
Question 68): Do you agree with the proposals to simplify, rationalise and clarify the Approved 
Document guidance in Approved Document F, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings as 
outlined in paragraph 4.3.7 of the consultation document?  

a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 69): Do you agree that purge ventilation in offices should be designed to 
provide at least four air changes per hour?  
a) Yes  
b) No, this standard goes too far  
c) No, this standard does not go far enough  
 
Question 70): Do you agree with the guidance for the ventilation of car parks and 
offices, as detailed in Section 1 of Approved Document F, volume 2: buildings other 
than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but some improvements can be made  
c) No, the guidance should be significantly changed  
 
Question 71): Do you agree with the proposals in Section 3 of draft Approved Document 
F, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings, when replacing an existing window with 
no background ventilators?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards do not go far enough  
c) No, the standards go too far  
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide alternative suggestions.  
 
Question 72): Do you agree with the proposal to provide a completed commissioning 
sheet to the building owner and associated guidance in Section 4 of draft Approved 
Document F, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
c) Yes  
d) No  
 
Extract from Draft AD_F Vol.2  
1.38 Each office should have the means to increase the general ventilation rate of each 
occupiable room by 50% so that it can operate for long periods (e.g., months) at a higher 
ventilation rate. This may be beneficial to reduce the spread of airborne infection in offices in 
a period when airborne illness is prevalent.  
 

Page 32



Question 73): Do you agree with requiring increased capacity of 50% within new 
ventilation systems in offices shown in paragraph 1.38 of the draft Approved Document 
F, volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but with qualifications  
c) No, the standard is too high  
d) No, the standard is too low  
e) No, I disagree for another reason.  
 
Extract from Draft AD_F Vol.2  
Whole building ventilation rates for offices  
1.35 Outdoor air should be supplied for occupiable rooms in offices at whichever will provide a higher 
total rate between:  
 

a. 10 litres per second per person  
b. 1 litre per second per m2 floor area.  

 
1.36 Common spaces, including rooms or spaces used solely or mainly for circulation such as corridors 
and lift lobbies, should be provided with either:  
 

a. natural ventilation by appropriately located ventilation opening(s) with a total opening area of at 
least 1/50th of the floor area of the common space;  

b. mechanical ventilation installed to provide a supply of outdoor air of 1 litre per second per m2 
of floor area.  

 
Question 74): Do you agree with the proposed standards for provision of outdoor air 
for offices, shown in new paragraphs 1.35 to 1.36 of draft Approved Document F, 
volume 2: buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but with qualifications  
c) No  
 
Question 75): Do you agree that extract ventilation in bathrooms, WCs, and other 
sanitary accommodation should be capable of operating in a continuous mode if 
necessary?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
  
Extract from Draft AD_F Vol.2  
Indoor air quality monitoring for offices  
1.39 Each occupiable room should have a means of monitoring the performance of the ventilation 
system. This may be achieved through using CO2 monitors or other means of measuring indoor air 
quality. This does not apply to either:  
  a. rooms designed for fewer than 15 people  
  b. large volume spaces, such as atria.  
1.40 Where CO2 monitors are used, they should meet all of the following: 
  a. be mains operated 
  b. include a visual indicator of CO2 concentration  
  c. be capable of logging data at no more than 15-minute intervals, and to store data  
  for at least the previous 24-hour period  
  d. any audible alarms should be able to be permanently deactivated.  
  e. be capable of recording and displaying readings in the range of at  
  least 0 – 5000 parts per million.  
1.41 Where CO2 monitors are used, they should be located:  
  a. at least 300mm away from any wall if ceiling mounted.  

Page 33



  b. at least 150mm away from the ceiling if wall mounted.  
  c. away from obstructions such as furniture or fittings  
  d. at least 500mm away from individual workstations, doors, windows, or air vents.  

 
Question 76): Do you agree with the proposal for indoor air quality monitoring in offices 
as outlined in paragraphs 1.39 to 1.41 of draft Approved Document F, volume 2: 
buildings other than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but with qualifications  
c) No  
If you answered b or c, please explain your reasoning and provide any suggestions for 
guidance if applicable.  
To ensure compatibility of monitoring with the BEM (BACS) system and between the 
appropriate level of heating required and ventilation for the use of the space. This is 
irrespective of the daily use and must not be assumed as it must be monitored closely and 
amended accordingly. 
 
 
Question 77): If applicable, please provide any suggestions for guidance for indoor air 
quality monitoring (e.g. CO2 monitoring) in non-domestic buildings.  
– Radon Gas (Radon Risk Areas) 
 – Black Damp (Methane ground gas) [from old Mine Workings and/or covered land fill waste 
sites] 
– Natural Gas / LPG (Leaks) 
CO2 from appliances being used. 
   

Recirculation of air within ventilation systems in offices  
1.46 Office buildings should have the ability to provide adequate outdoor air to all occupied spaces 
without recirculating air within spaces or between different spaces, rooms or zones, unless the 
ventilation system has an ultraviolet filter, HEPA filter or other germicidal filter.  
NOTE: For some system types some recirculation is necessary or desirable in normal 
operation. Such systems should comply with paragraph 1.46 by either meeting the standards 
for filtration or by having the ability to switch to a full fresh air mode. 
 
Question 78): Do you agree with the proposals for systems that recirculate air as 
outlined in paragraph 1.46 of draft Approved Document F, volume 2: buildings other 
than dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Requirements for specific types of occupiable rooms 
1.27 Ventilation systems in non-domestic environments may be required to disperse airborne 
contaminants, for example infectious agents being transmitted as aerosols.  
Ventilation systems, including natural ventilation, should be designed to provide a minimum of  
15 litres per second per person of outdoor air in the following types of occupiable rooms.  

a. Rooms where singing, loud speech or aerobic exercise or other aerosol generating activities are 
likely to take place.  
These may include rooms, for example, in gymnasiums, indoor sports venues, dance studios, 
theatres, concert halls, public houses, nightclubs, assembly halls, as well as in other types of 
building.  
b. Rooms where members of the public are likely to gather in large numbers.  

These may include rooms, for example, in public buildings, hotels, shopping malls, 
gymnasiums, indoor sports venues, dance studios, theatres, concert halls, public houses, 
nightclubs or assembly halls as well as in other types of building.  
c. Rooms which are maintained at both low temperatures and low levels of humidity.  
These may include rooms used for chilled food processing and occupied cold stores.  

Page 34



1.28 Buildings containing rooms outlined in paragraph 1.27 should also meet the ventilation guidance 
relevant to the building type set out in paragraphs 1.29 to 1.50. If the ventilation guidance set out in 
1.29 to 1.50 requires outdoor air rates greater than 15 litres per second per person in these rooms, the 
higher rate should be provided as a minimum.  
 

Question 79): Do you agree with the proposed minimum ventilation standard in 
occupiable rooms in all types of non-domestic buildings where singing, loud speech or 
aerobic exercise may take place, where low temperature and low humidity 
environments may exist, or where members of the public may gather in large groups? 
These are outlined in paragraphs 1.27 and 1.28 of draft Approved Document F, volume 
2: buildings other than dwellings.  
a) Yes CINEMAS, CONFERENCE HALLS, MEETING ROOMS, WAITING ROOMS. 
CHURCHS, SCHOOLS, COLLEDGES, UNIVERSITIES, 
 
b) Yes, with qualifications  
c) No  
 
If you answered b or c, please explain your reasoning, and provide any suggestions for 
guidance if applicable.  
 
Question 80) Do you think the mitigating measures to protect against infection via 
aerosols would be suitable for any non-domestic buildings other than those stated in 
the Approved Document guidance?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered yes, please explain your reasoning and provide evidence to support this.  
If used in cinemas, Conference Halls, Meeting Rooms, Waiting Rooms, Churches etc. 
 

Section B: Domestic Buildings  
 

Standards for overheating in new residential buildings in 2021  
 
Question 81): How should the Government address the overheating risk?  
a) Through a new requirement in the Building Regulations and an Approved Document, 
as proposed in this consultation  
b) Through Parts L and F of the Building Regulations  
c) Through government guidance  
d) I have an alternative approach  
e) It isn’t an issue that needs addressing  
 
Please explain your reasoning and provide alternative suggestions where applicable.  
We consider that a new Part and Approved Document should be standalone but also merge 
between Parts F and L. The problem of overheating is beyond that of combining current Parts 
and Approved Documents F & L. It requires specific attention and provisions to be included 
within a new Approved Document. Whilst it is guidance only, the new area will help ensure the 
issues are addressed through the new section and document. However, we also consider that 
further guidance should be developed and supported with a new British Standard.  
 

5. Standards for overheating in new residential buildings in 2021  
5.1 Chapter Summary  
5.1.1. This chapter includes the following proposals in respect to new residential buildings:  
• proposals to reduce the risk of overheating in new residential buildings, including houses, flats, 

care homes and residential educational buildings (the full list of building types within the scope of 

Page 35



this proposed regulation can be found in the draft Overheating Approved Document and below in 
Table 5.1);  

• two potential methods of complying with the proposed new requirement of the Building Regulations 
and acceptable strategies for each method;  

• proposals to take account of factors such as noise and security to ensure the overheating strategy 
is usable for occupants;  

• requirements to provide occupants with information in order for them to understand their 
overheating strategy;  

• any policy interactions with the new overheating requirement; and  
• transitional arrangements for the new requirement.  

5.2.2. Overheating occurs in buildings when indoor temperatures are too high for the health, welfare, or 
comfort of occupants. While there is currently no formal Government guidance for individuals or 
organisations on how to identify overheating risk in buildings or apply effective preventative measures, 
there is provision within Part L of the Building Regulations 2010 for limiting heat gains.  
 
 
 
The case for change  

5.2.7. In line with our response to the Climate Change Committee’s statutory report in 2015, 
the Government carried out research into overheating in new homes. The research was 
published alongside the Future Homes Standard consultation in October 2019 and 
demonstrated that during warm years, overheating will occur in most new homes in most 
locations in England, particularly in London. The research also showed that mitigation 
techniques, such as solar shading and increased ventilation, are highly effective at reducing 
indoor temperatures, which in turn reduces the risk of mortality and the impact on productivity  
associated with sleep loss.  

 
Question 82): Do you agree with the buildings that are in scope of this new part of the 
Building Regulations?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but they should be expanded to include more building types and/or existing 
buildings  
c) No, they should be reduced to only include flats and houses  
d) No, I disagree for another reason  
 
Please explain your reasoning. 
Existing buildings with overheating concerns will otherwise seek to install cooling systems or 
equipment being counterproductive through use/dispensing of its own energy. 

Page 36



 
Question 83): Do you agree that the division of England based on overheating risk 
detailed in paragraph 5.6.3 of this consultation document is correct?  
a) Yes  
b) No, there should be one area  
c) No, there should be more areas 
 
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning, and provide supporting evidence.  
 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
5.6.5. The overheating guidance provided is based on both location and type. Houses and parts of 
residential buildings have been separated into two groups based on their characteristics, these two 
groups are:  
Group A, which will include most houses, and will have both of the following characteristics:  
  a. more than two fabric elements  
  b. openings on opposite facades, allowing for cross-ventilation.  
Group B, which will include most flats, residential units in care homes and residential units in student 
halls of residence, and will have both of the following characteristics:  
  a. have two or fewer fabric elements.  

b. openings on facades which are not opposite.  

 
Question 84): Do you agree with the categorisation of buildings into Group A and Group 
B as detailed in paragraph 5.6.5 of this consultation document?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
5.6.7. The measures in the simplified method have been chosen as the lowest cost method of keeping 
occupants cool while not requiring air conditioning.  
The proposed requirement for overheating is met by designing and constructing the building to limit 
unwanted solar gains and by removing excess heat from the building.  
5.6.8 Within the simplified method, unwanted solar gains are limited by setting maximum glazing 
areas, which are different based on the location and group of building.  
For buildings in Greater London, a minimum shading requirement is also proposed in addition to the 
maximum glazing areas.  
For the simplified method, the shading should be provided using shutters, low-g glazing, or overhangs.  
 

Question 85): Do you agree with the simplified method as a means of compliance with 
the proposed new requirement to reduce overheating risk?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the method should be more sophisticated  
c) No, the method is too easy to pass  
d) No, for another reason  
 
 
 
Extract from Consultation Document:  
5.6.15. We consider any combination of the following to be acceptable means of limiting solar gains. 
We believe that these options are the best evidenced means of reducing solar gain which are reliable 
in practice.  
We would be interested to receive any further suggestions for acceptable means of limiting solar gains.  
 
• Fixed shading devices, for example shutters, external blinds, overhangs, and awnings;  
• Glazing design, for example size, orientation, g-value, and size of window reveal;  
• Building design, for example the placement of balconies; and  
• Shade of adjacent permanent buildings, structures, or landscape  

 

Page 37



Question 86) Do you agree with the maximum glazing area and shading standards for 
limiting solar gains in the simplified method as detailed in paragraphs 1.6 to 1.9 of the 
draft Overheating Approved Document?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 87) Do you agree with the approach to removing excess heat in the simplified 
method as detailed in paragraphs 1.10 to 1.13 of the draft Overheating Approved 
Document?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 88): Do you think that adequate levels of daylight will be provided and that 
homes will be acceptable to purchasers while meeting these proposed standards?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 89): Do you agree with offering dynamic thermal analysis as a means of 
compliance with the proposed new requirement to reduce overheating risk?  
a) Yes, as described in the draft Overheating Approved Document  
b) Yes, but not as described in the draft Overheating Approved Document  
c) No  
 
Question 90): Please detail any information you have about the likelihood of occupants 
opening doors and windows at night in unoccupied rooms.  
I can provide no specific comment in relation to this as I’ve not come across this other than 
when the room is occupied. Owners may leave a window opening after day time use for airing 
purposes or forgetting to close it. When dealing with noise complaints, it usually results from 
the window or door being open from an occupied room rather than from an adjoining, 
unoccupied room. However, I can see this being a possibility if the habitant may only require 
background cooling from another room and thereby reducing the noise pollution that may exist 
if the opening is directly from their occupied room.   
 
Question 91): Do you agree with the proposed acceptable strategies for shading and 
the removal of excess heat, when following the dynamic thermal analysis method, as 
found in Section 2 of the draft Overheating Approved Document?  
a) Yes, I agree with both sets of acceptable strategies  
b) Yes, but with amendments to the acceptable shading strategies  
c) Yes, but with amendments to the acceptable strategies to remove excess heat  
d) Yes, but with amendments to both sets of acceptable strategies  
e) No, I do not agree with the acceptable strategies  
 
Question 92): Do you agree that the overheating standard should not account for the 
effect of curtains, blinds and tree cover?  
a) Yes, curtains, blinds and tree cover should be excluded (all are non-permanent.)  
b) Yes, but only curtains and blinds should be excluded  
c) Yes, but only tree cover should be excluded  
d) No, none of these should be excluded  
 
Question 93): Do you agree that the building should be constructed to meet the 
overheating requirement without the need for mechanical cooling?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 

Page 38



Question 94): Do you agree with limiting noise in new residential buildings when the 
overheating strategy is in use, and the proposed guidance in Section 3 of the draft 
Overheating Approved Document?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but with amendments to the guidance  
c) No, I do not agree with limiting noise when the overheating strategy is in use  
 
Question 95): Do you agree with minimising the ingress of external pollutants when the 
overheating strategy is in use, and that the external pollutants guidance in Approved 
Document F, volume 1: dwellings should be followed where practicable?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but with amendments to the guidance  
c) No, I do not agree with minimising the ingress of external pollutants when the 
overheating strategy is in use  
 
Question 96): Do you agree with the proposals on security in Section 3 of the draft 
Overheating Approved Document in new residential buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 97): Do you agree with the protection from falling guidance proposed in 
Section 3 of the draft Overheating Approved Document?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 98): Do you agree with the guidance on protection from entrapment proposed 
in Section 3 of the draft Overheating Approved Document?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 99): Are there any further issues which affect usability that should be included 
in the Overheating Approved Document?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 100): Do you agree with the proposed requirement to provide information on 
the overheating strategy to the building owner?  
a) Yes, I agree with the requirement, the list provided and that this should be within a 
Home User Guide  
b) Yes, I agree with the requirement, but think that the list provided should be changed 
or that this should not be provided within a Home User Guide  
c) No, I do not agree with providing information  
 
Question 101): How do you see this new Building Regulation interacting with policies 
in local plans?  
 
Orientation and positioning of buildings in relation to height, size and heat gains. 
Issues affecting amenity and comfort. 
Contributing issues from adjoining properties and their respective use – noise issues, smells, 
etc.  
Noise from and positioning of plant and cooling/heating equipment. 
Number, size and orientation of windows and doors on an elevation and/or roof. 
Design and positioning of soffits, awnings and sun/solar gains 
Glazing type, including associated framing material for doors, windows, façades and roof in 
general. 

Page 39



 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
5.6.10. There is no requirement to provide specific levels of daylight in the Building Regulations or in 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  
The method of reducing solar gains proposes smaller window sizes in flats compared to many common 
designs, which we believe will continue to provide adequate daylight for occupiers of the buildings and 
avoid the need for excess lighting use in winter.  
While too many windows can cause a home to overheat, we recognise that larger windows can make 
new homes more attractive to potential buyers and solar gains are important for designing low energy 
buildings.  
Below in Figure 5.1 is a potential design for a house in England (not Greater London) with the maximum 
glazing areas under the simplified method.  
It can be seen that the glazing is still generous and is similar to the style of many new build homes. The 
solutions provided in the simplified method are the lowest cost options.  
More architectural freedom is available by using dynamic thermal analysis, described in the following 
section.  

 
 
5.6.18. Section 2 of the draft Overheating Approved Document also includes guidance on 
acceptable strategies for removing excess heat from the indoor environment.  
We believe that the options listed below are the only acceptable means of sufficiently removing 
excess heat, but we would be interested to receive any further suggestions for other means 
beyond the below:  
 
• opening windows;  
• ventilation louvres in external walls; and  
• a mechanical ventilation system.  

 
5.6.19. Given the Government’s net zero commitment, our preferred means of mitigating overheating 
is through passive means, (i.e. low or no energy needed), as far as practicable.  
By placing restrictions on the type of overheating mitigation used (i.e., passive means first), a 
widespread uptake of air conditioning in new builds can be avoided.  

 
Question 102): Do you agree that this guidance on limiting the effects of heat gains in summer, 
in both Approved Document L guidance for new dwellings and SAP Appendix P, can be 
removed?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 103): Should the transitional arrangements that apply to the overheating 
requirements align with the proposed transitional arrangements for Part L and F 2021 
for new dwellings, as described in paragraph 5.10.2 of this consultation document?  

Page 40



a) Yes (each Dwelling commenced, or block of dwellings commenced, – not each 
development phase) 
b) No  

 

Part L standards for domestic buildings in 2021  
 
Extract from Consultation: 
6.1.1. This chapter includes the following proposals for Part L in respect of existing domestic buildings:  
• uplift to minimum standards for new and replacement thermal elements (i.e., walls, floors, roofs) and 
controlled fittings (e.g. windows, rooflights and doors);  
• uplift to minimum standards for when a thermal element is being renovated;  
• changes to minimum standards for building services, including proposals to introduce a new regulation 
to ensure buildings have self-regulating devices when a heating appliance is replaced, and to 
incorporate standards from the Building Services Compliance Guides into Approved Document L, 
volume 1: dwellings.; and  
• guidance on the calibration of devices that carry out airtightness testing.  
6.1.2. The Future Homes Standard consultation, which launched in October 2019, consulted on energy 
standards exclusively in newly built domestic buildings. This chapter includes the following additional 
proposals for Part L in respect of new domestic buildings, which should be considered alongside these 
original proposals and the Government response:  
• the level at which the Fabric Energy Efficiency Standard should be set;  
• some changes to minimum standards for building services; and  
• guidance on the calibration of devices that carry out airtightness testing.  
 

 
 
Question 104): Do you agree with the proposed minimum fabric standards for existing 
domestic buildings set out in Table 6.1 of this consultation document?  
a) Yes  

Page 41



b) No  
 
Question 105): Do you agree with the draft guidance in section 4 of the draft Approved 
Document L, volume 1: dwellings on reducing unwanted air infiltration when carrying 
out work to existing homes?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 106): Do you agree that we should control the primary energy and fabric 
energy efficiency of new extensions to existing homes when using the SAP method of 
compliance?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 107): Do you agree that the limiting U-value for rooflights in existing domestic 
buildings should be based on a rooflight in a horizontal position, as detailed in Section 
4 of draft Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes (Removes complex correction factors that have minor effect on actual u-values) 
b) No  
 
Question 108): Do you agree that we should adopt the latest version of BR 443 for 
calculating U-values in existing domestic buildings, as detailed in Section 4 of draft 
Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes (best practice) 
b) No  

 
 
Question 109): Do you agree with the proposed minimum fabric standards set out in 
Table 6.2 of this consultation document, and Sections 4 and 11 of draft Approved 
Document L, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  

Page 42



 
Question 110): What level of FEES (Fabric Specifications – See Table 6.3) should be 
used for Part L 2021?  
a) Option 1, full fabric specification  
b) Option 2, fabric specification x1.15  
c) Neither, it should be higher  
d) Neither, it should be lower  
Please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence, including whether you think 
a higher level of FEES will make it more or less likely for a home to be built with low carbon 
heat.  
This will ensure a meaningful uplift to the fabric of new homes. Additional or a higher level of 
fees will not necessarily mean a home or building to be built with a lower carbon heat; it will 
be down to the design and specification and the administration process of the Building 
Regulations from the respective BCB. It is primarily up to the applicant to ensure they meet 
the requirements of the Building Regulations, not if the fees are higher – Building Control 
cannot be a Clerk of Works service. 
 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
6.7.3. The Ecodesign for Energy-Related Products Regulations 2010 were amended in 2018. In 
some cases, these standards exceed those in the Domestic Building Services Compliance Guide, and 
the minimum efficiency in the new draft Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings has been updated 
to reflect the Ecodesign 2018 standards.  

6.7.4. We are making several proposals for simplifying and consolidating the minimum 
standards for air distribution systems. There are also some areas where technological 
advancements or improved design and installation practices mean that we can improve 
minimum standards for building services, to prevent the least efficient systems from being 
installed in homes.  
 
Question 111): Do you agree that we have adequately covered matters which are 
currently in the Domestic Building Services Compliance Guide in draft Approved 
Document L, volume 1: dwellings for existing homes?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 112): Do you agree with the proposed minimum standards for building 
services in existing homes, as detailed in Sections 5 and 6 of draft Approved Document 
L, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
6.7.6. Current guidance states that the efficiency of a replacement heating appliance should not be 
worse than 2 percentage points lower than that of the appliance being replaced. To compare the 
efficiencies of appliances with different fuels, a conversion with CO2 emission factors is given. We now 
propose that when a replacement service uses a different fuel, the new services should not emit more 

Page 43



CO2 emissions and should not have higher primary energy demand than the service being replaced.  
 
Question 113): Do you agree with the proposals for replacement fixed building services in 
existing homes, as detailed in Section 5 of draft Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings?  

a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Extract from Consultation Document: 
6.7.7. We plan to introduce a new regulation in the Building Regulations 2010 to ensure that existing 
domestic buildings must have self-regulating devices when a heating appliance, such as a boiler, is 
replaced. Technically this means including devices for the separate regulation of the temperature in 
each room, or designated heating zone (where this is justified) of the building.  
A common way of achieving this in practice for homes would be to have thermostatic radiator 
valves (TRVs) on radiators in each room, which are often already present in people’s new homes. 

 
Question 114): Do you agree with our proposed approach to mandating self-regulating 
controls in existing domestic buildings, including technical and economic feasibility, 
as detailed in Sections 5 and 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Building Automation and Control Systems  
6.7.9. A Building Automation and Control System (BACS) is a centralised system used to monitor and 
control a building’s environment and services (i.e. heating, ventilation, air conditioning, lighting and other 
systems such as security alarms and lifts). There is currently no guidance for the installation of BACS 
in a new or existing home.  
We propose to provide guidance for these systems, which are set out in Section 6 of draft Approved 
Document L, volume 1: dwellings provided alongside this consultation.  

 
Question 115): Do you agree with the proposed specifications for building automation 
and control systems installed in a new or existing home, as detailed in Section 6 of 
draft Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Extract from Draft 2021 AD Part_L Vol.1  
Section 8: Commissioning  
8.1 Fixed building services, Building Automation and Control Systems and on-site electricity generation 
must be commissioned to ensure that they use no more fuel and power than is reasonable in the 
circumstances. The commissioning process should involve testing and adjusting the fixed building 
services, Building Automation and Control Systems and on-site electricity generation as necessary and 
in accordance with the manufacturer’s instructions.  
8.2 A commissioning plan should be produced, identifying both of the following.  
a. Systems that need to be tested.  
b. How these systems will be tested.  

For new dwellings, the commissioning plan should be given to the building control body with the design 
stage primary energy rate, emission rate and fabric energy efficiency rate calculations.  
8.3 A fixed building service, Building Automation and Control System or on-site electricity generation 
that cannot be adjusted by design, or for which commissioning would not affect energy use, does not 
need to be commissioned.  

Fixed building services, Building Automation and Control Systems and on-site electricity 
generation that do not require commissioning should be identified in the commissioning plan, 
along with the reason for them not requiring commissioning.  
Notice of completion.  

Page 44



8.4 A commissioning notice must be given to the relevant building control body and the 
building owner confirming that commissioning has been carried out for the installed fixed 
building services, Building Automation and Control Systems and on-site electricity generation 
according to a procedure approved by the Secretary of State. 
8.7 Until the building control body receives the commissioning notice, it may not consider 
it appropriate to give a completion/final certificate.  
 
Extract from Draft 2021 AD Part_L Vol.1  
Operating and Maintenance instructions  
9.1 For new dwellings, and for work to an existing dwelling, operating and maintenance instructions 
should be provided to the occupiers of the dwelling for any fixed building services, building automation 
and control systems and on-site electricity generation installed as part of the works. The instructions 
should contain sufficient information to help the occupiers achieve the expected level of energy 
efficiency, and to verify compliance with the energy performance requirements of the Building 
Regulations.  
The documentation should be all of the following.  
  a. Easy to understand.  
  b. Specific to the dwelling.  
  c. Durable.  
  d. In an accessible format.  
9.2 For new dwellings and for work to an existing dwelling, the operating and maintenance instructions 
should achieve all of the following.  
a. Explain the following for the heating, hot water, ventilation and any other technologies.  
  i. What they are.  
  ii. What they are for.  
  iii. Where they are located, using a floor plan.  
  iv. How to operate them.  
  v. How to control them, including the location and operation of timers and sensors.  
  vi. How to maintain them.  
b. Signpost other important documentation, such as appliance manuals.  
c. Include a completed commissioning sheet, where relevant.  
Additional information for new dwellings  

9.3 For new dwellings, a signed copy of the Buildings Regulations Compliance Report (BREL) 
and photographic evidence of the build quality should be provided to the homeowner. 
Question 116): Do you agree with the proposals for extending commissioning 
requirements to Building Automation and Control Systems and on-site electricity 
generation systems, as detailed in Sections 8 and 9 of draft Approved Document L, 
volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Extract from Draft 2021 AD Part_L Vol.1  
9.5 For new dwellings, the operating and maintenance Instructions should include a Home User Guide. 
The Home User Guide should contain non-technical advice on how to operate and maintain the 
home in a healthy and energy efficient manner.  
The guide must contain advice on how to use the building services efficiently in the following areas:  
i ventilation  
ii heating & domestic hot water  
iii renewable energy (if applicable)  
iv staying cool in hot weather.  
A Home User Guide template can be viewed at  
 
https://wwww.gov.uk/government/publications/home-user-guide-template.  

 
There is no requirement to follow the layout, format or text used within the example. 
 

Page 45

https://wwww.gov.uk/government/publications/home-user-guide-template


Question 117): Do you agree with the proposals for requirements relating to the 
assessment of overall energy performance of building services installations and 
providing information to homeowners, as detailed in Sections 8 and 9 of draft Approved 
Document L, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, I do not agree with providing this guidance  
c) No, the guidance should be improved  
 
Question 118): Do you agree with the proposed changes to water treatment guidance 
and removing formal guidance on water softening?  
a) Yes (as it is not directly an energy efficiency measure – see 6.7.14.) 
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning.  

 
 
Question 119): Do you agree with the guidance proposals for adequate sizing and 
controls of building services systems in domestic buildings, as detailed in Sections 5 
and 6 of draft Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No, I do not agree with providing this guidance  
c) No, the guidance should be improved  
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 120): Do you agree with the guidance proposals on sizing a system to run at 
55°C when a whole heating system is replaced, as detailed in Section 5 of draft 
Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes (provide future proofing for heat networks or heat pumps) 
b) No, I do not agree with providing this guidance  
c) No, the guidance should be improved  
 
If you answered no (b or c), please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 121): Do you agree with the proposed changes to the supplementary guidance 
and the external references in Appendix D and Appendix E, in the draft Approved 
Document L, volume 1: dwellings as outlined in paragraph 6.8.2.?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but not with the changes to the supplementary guidance  
c) Yes, but not with the external references  
d) No  
 
If you answered b, c or d, please explain your reasoning.  
 

Page 46



Question 122): Do you agree with the proposal for guidance on the calibration of 
devices that carry out airtightness testing in new and existing domestic buildings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide alternative suggestions.  
 

Extract from Draft 2021 AD Part_L Vol.1  
6.8 Part L guidance changes for existing homes  
6.8.1. The new Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings is provided alongside this consultation 
document. The document contains the previously consulted on guidance for new homes which has 
been updated to reflect our final policy positions, and now contains new guidance on work to existing 
homes.  
6.8.2. The new guidance in Approved Document L, volume 1: dwellings aims to be clearer about what 
is expected of builders and installers in complying with the regulatory requirements. Approved 
Documents deal with complex information and are an essential resource relied upon by those who 
enforce the regulations, advise on compliance, or need to comply with the regulations.  
The Independent Review of the Building Regulations and Building Safety highlighted that the complexity 
of the current regulations and Approved Documents guidance “can lead to confusion and 
misinterpretation in their application…regulations and guidance must be simplified and unambiguous.”  
In line with this recommendation, and to make the minimum standard as clear as possible, 
Supplementary information has been removed, clarifications made, and some new information has 
been added.  
This is a comprehensive, but not exhaustive, list of the information that has been changed:  
• Inclusion of cavity wall insulation in renovating a thermal element;  
• Additional clarity on installing a boiler interlock in existing systems;  
• Additional clarity on operating and maintenance information;  
• Additional clarity on the commissioning notice of completion for dwellings;  
• Removal of advice on upgrading windows and doors when only replacing glazing panes or the door 
leaf;  
• Removal of advice on weather stripping secondary glazing;  
• Removal of guidance that an approach to demonstrate thermal bridging has been limited is 
 to adopt Accredited Construction Details at: www.gov.uk;  
• Removal of design considerations for swimming pool basins;  
• Removal of guidance that there may be poor levels of daylight in extensions if there is too little glazing;  
• Removal of advice on cost-effective renovation of thermal elements as a compensating measure for 
the thermal performance of an extension;  
• Removal of guidance on flexibility on areas of glazing to maintain the character of an existing building;  
• Removal of examples of fixed building services that do not need commissioning; and  
• Removal of advice on the building control body failing to receive a commissioning notice and issuing 
a final certificate.  

 

Part F standards for existing domestic buildings in 2021  
 
Question 123): Do you agree that we have adequately covered matters for existing 
dwellings which are currently in the Domestic Ventilation Compliance Guide in draft 
Approved Document F, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide alternative suggestions.  
 
Question 124): Do you agree with the proposed changes to supplementary guidance 
and the external references used in Appendix E and Appendix F, for existing domestic 
buildings from the draft Approved Document F, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) Yes, but not with the changes to the supplementary guidance  

Page 47



c) Yes, but not with the external references  
d) No  
 
If you answered b, c or d, please explain your reasoning.  
 
Question 125): Do you agree with the proposal to align the guidance and standards for 
work to existing homes to that outlined in Chapter 4 of the Government Response to 
the Future Homes Standard consultation?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
If you answered no, please explain your reasoning and provide supporting evidence.  
 
Extract from Draft 2021 AD Part_L Vol.1  
Appendix B: Reporting evidence of compliance (Part L Vol.1 2021) 
B.1 The standardised Buildings Regulations England Part L (BREL) report and 
photographic evidence of compliance should be provided to the building control body and 
to the building owner to demonstrate compliance with the energy efficiency requirements. 
B.2 The approved software will produce the BREL report for the building as a standard output 
option.  
B.3 Two versions of the BREL report should be produced by the approved software.  
a. The first design stage BREL report, before commencement of works, to include all of the 
following.  
  i. The target and Dwelling Primary Energy Rate.  
  ii. The target and Dwelling Emission Rate.  
  iii. A supporting list of specifications.  
b. The second, as-built BREL report, to include all of the following.  
  i. The target and as-built Dwelling Primary Energy Rate.  
  ii. The target and as-built Dwelling Emission Rate.  
  iii. A supporting list of specifications and any changes to the 
  list of specifications provided at design stage.  
These reports can then be used by the building control body to assist checking that what 
has been designed is actually built. The report should include a facility to compare the ‘as 
designed’ and ‘as built’ data input files and automatically produces a schedule of changes.  
 
Question 126): Do you agree with the proposed guidance for installing energy efficiency 
measures in existing homes, as detailed in Section 3 of draft Approved Document F, 
volume 1: dwellings.  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 127): Do you agree with the content of the proposed checklist for ventilation 
provision detailed in Appendix D of draft Approved Document F, volume 1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  
 
Question 128): Do you agree with the guidance in Section 3 of draft Approved 
Document F, volume 1: dwellings when replacing an existing window with no 
background ventilators?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
 

Page 48



Question 129): Do you agree with the proposals in paragraphs 3.29 to 3.31 of draft 
Approved Document F, volume 1: dwellings in 7.4.11 of this consultation document on 
work to existing kitchens or bathrooms?  
a) Yes  
b) No, the standards go too far  
c) No, the standards do not go far enough  
 
Question 130): Do you agree with the proposal to provide a completed commissioning 
sheet to the homeowner, as detailed in Section 4 of draft Approved Document F volume 
1: dwellings?  
a) Yes  
b) No  

 
Impact and Equalities Assessment  
 
Question 131): Please provide any feedback you have on the impact assessment here, 
including the assumptions made and the assessment of the potential costs and 
benefits of the proposed options we have made.  
 
Solutions could involve a hybrid of options to resolve a problem, not just the standard or 
singular options outlined. However, going back to previous points we raised, we consider it 
imperative for the Government to incentivise and subsidise the adoption and use of solutions. 
Without this, the point is futile and the uptake of these systems will take more than appealing 
to better nature, moral and ethical consciousness – it will come down to fiscal support. 
Government may be able to raise awareness to the dangers of ignoring the problem and 
financial mistakes if ignored. It’s also not just about new buildings and properties; they need 
to provide support to both new and existing building stock owners and users. Manufacturers 
also need to be supported to help subsidise the roll out of the required technology, materials 
and plant to ensure targets are met. Coupled with incentives for prospective owners, 
developers and users, this will help ensure governments achieve targets, improve standards 
and eradicate health, safety and welfare issues. Affordability and accessibility is also key for 
those facing social challenges and their accommodation, which can become a breeding 
ground for all sorts of issues. 
Education is also central to change hearts and minds and educate designers, agents, 
developers and building users of the benefits, requirement and moral obligation to improve 
standards in the workplace, at home and in leisure.  
 
Question 132): Please provide any feedback you have on the potential impact of the proposals 
outlined in this consultation document on persons who have a protected characteristic. Please 
provide evidence to support your comments. 
 
Leading on from Q131, it’s a reminder that both new and existing stock need to be considered as 
approx. 2/3 are already built. Socially challenged people, particularly those in sheltered housing and 
who are tenant in commercial properties must be equally catered for.  
Children, particularly those with special needs and must also be included in the review and the 
assessment of their needs included – this is of course equally relevant for all ages and their rights are 
not overlooked or discriminated against, such as people with varying disabilities, health conditions, 
elderly, etc. Everyone’s comfort levels are different and therefore, buildings (new or existing) need to 
be developed to meet their needs. Action is likely to be more difficult for existing buildings and trying to 
adapt them to meet the needs of the current users, who may move on to another building, etc. Action 
needs to be delivered with solutions that are responsive, agile and flexible that can be tailored to meet 
the needs to the occupant and user or users. There have been significant technological advances in 
equipment, material and controls than can enable this to be reality. Supported with the appropriate level 
of subsidy and incentivisation to all stakeholders involved in this process, can and will make a real 
difference. Peoples health can and has been affected by the incompatibility of the heating and cooling 
systems of a building, in conjunction with its fabric and structure. Visitors, workers and those relocating 

Page 49



from different countries also have to be considered as they may be more familiar and used to higher or 
lower climates. Families with or without children are also susceptible to varying comfort levels and 
issues arising from lack of suitable controls. This is a real opportunity to get it right and help us achieve 
the required balance. The lack of control and damage we are doing to ourselves, the planet and the 
buildings we live in, work in and visit has been evidenced across the globe, not just in the UK. These 
proposed changes can help improve standards and Government meet or even exceed targets. 

 

 

Page 50



 COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE  

 
National Planning Policy Framework and National Model 

Design Code: Consultation Proposals 
 

Thursday 25th March 2021 
 

Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration 
 
 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To inform members of the consultation on draft revisions to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) and the consultation on a new National Model Design Code. Both 
documents have been prepared by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government with comments required by the 27th March 2021. 
 
The review of the NPPF is not a wholescale review of national planning policy. The changes 
proposed relate mostly to policy on the quality of design and focus on ensuring that the 
planning system creates and facilitates the development of more attractive buildings and 
places. This is supported by a number of additional environment-related changes including 
amendments on flood risk and climate change.  
 
The consultation is also seeking views on the draft National Model Design Code. The draft 
code expands on the ten characteristics of good design set out in the National Design Guide 
and seeks to provide detailed guidance on the production of design codes, guides and policies. 
The National Model Design Code is intended to form part of the government’s planning 
practice guidance. It is not a statement of national policy. However, once finalised, the 
government recommends that the advice on how to prepare local design codes and guides is 
followed. 
 
Officers proposed response to this consultation is appended to this report. 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
(1) That the comments raised in appendix 1 of the Report are submitted to the 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government as a formal response 
from the City Council  

 
(2) That officers keep Members informed of progress on the implementation of 

these revisions  
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 In 2018 the Government convened the Building Better, Building Beautiful 

Commission. The commission was charged with championing beauty in the built 
environment with three primary aims established: 

Page 51 Agenda Item 7



 To promote better design and style of homes, villages, towns and high streets, 
to reflect what communities want, building on the knowledge and tradition of 
what they know works for their area; 

 To explore how new settlements can be developed with greater community 
consent; and 

 To make the planning system work in support of better design and style, not 
against it. 

 
1.2 Following a detailed review of current guidance, the commission published its final 

report ‘Living with Beauty’ on the 30th January 2020. This proposed three overall 
aims: ask for beauty, refuse ugliness and promote stewardship. The Government 
have accepted all three aims and agreed to the delivery of a stronger focus on beauty 
in national planning policy. 
 

1.3 The current consultations seek to deliver this commitment firstly through revisions to 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) focussed on making beauty and 
place making a central component of planning and then secondly through the 
preparation of a new National Model Design Code aimed at providing detailed 
guidance on the production of local design codes, guides and policies to promote 
successful design. 
 

1.4 In addition to the promotion and strengthening of good design within the NPPF the 
consultation does also take the opportunity to present several wider changes to the 
NPPF including amendments on flood risk and climate change. The amendments 
also include a small number of very minor changes arising from legal cases, primarily 
to clarify policy. 
 

1.5 This report provides an overview of the changes proposed and describes Officers 
comments on the consultation document (appendix 1), which subject to this 
committee’s agreement will be submitted to the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government as Lancaster City Council’s formal response to the 
consultation. The consultation documents can be viewed from the following link 
National Planning Policy Framework and National Model Design Code: consultation proposals - 

GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  
 

2.0 Proposal Details 
 
 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) Review 
 
2.1 The proposed revisions to the NPPF take forward the Government’s commitment to 

make beauty and place making a strategic theme in national planning policy. Through 
the revisions proposed the Government are seeking to place good design at the 
forefront of decision making to ensure that the planning system helps to create more 
attractive buildings and places, while also maintaining the NPPF’s existing strong focus 
on delivering the housing and other development which communities need.  

 
2.2 Importantly the consultation does not represent a wholescale review of the NPPF. The 

consultation is targeted at implementing the recommendations of the Building Better, 
Building Beautiful Commission and seeks to put good design at the forefront of 
planning decisions. A fuller review of the NPPF is expected. The full review will take 
account of wider reforms to the planning system as explored through the Planning for 
the Future White Paper which was consulted on in August 2020. 

 
2.3 Whilst focused on good design the current review does explore several further 

Page 52

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals


amendments. These include: 
 

 Changes to strengthen environmental policies – including those arising 
from the review of flood risk with Defra.  

  
 Minor changes to clarify policy, to address legal issues.  
  
 Changes to remove or amend out of date material.  
  
 Amendments to reflect a recent change made in a Written Ministerial Statement 

about retaining and explaining statues.  
  
 Clarity in relation to the use of Article 4 directions.  
  

2.4 A series of 16 consultation questions have been prepared. Officers proposed response 
to these can be found in appendix A and subject to the agreement of this committee 
will be submitted to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government as 
Lancaster City Council’s formal response to the consultation.  

 
2.5 The main points to note from the review are: 
 

 It is proposed that the Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development be 
expanded to include reference to the importance of climate change mitigation and 
adaptation. The proposed change to Paragraph 11(a) states that “all plans should 
promote a sustainable pattern of development that seeks to: meet the 
development needs of their area; align growth and infrastructure; improve the 
environment; mitigate climate change (including by making effective use of land 
in urban areas) and adapt to its effects”.  

  
 The review places a greater emphasis on the importance of well-

designed, beautiful and safe places in achieving social objectives of sustainable 
development (this is a recurring theme throughout the proposed Framework). The 
consultation proposed that development that is not well designed should be 
refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies.   

  
 The review calls for policies to include a longer-term vision (30 years) for larger-

scale developments such as new settlements. This is obviously of 
particular importance to the City Council in relation to Bailing Garden 
Village. Currently policies plan for a 15 year period. 

  
 It proposes to include new caveats on Article 4 powers, involving change of use 

to residential, aimed at curbing Council’s increased use to limit the effects of the 
recent Permitted Development Right changes. It states, Article 4 areas should be 
“…restricted to the smallest geographical area possible”. Such an approach 
would limit the Councils ability to apply restrictions to limit permitted development 
rights in particular areas. 

  
 The review calls for infrastructure for large scale developments such as new 

settlements or significant extensions to include a “genuine choice” of transport 
modes. When planning such development, the review states that, authorities 
should set clear expectations for the quality of the places to be created and how 
this can be maintained Again, this is of particular interest in the creation of 
Bailrigg Garden Village.    

  

Page 53



 The consultation proposes that there should be recognition that quality open 
spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health 
and well-being of communities and can deliver wider benefits for nature and 
efforts to address climate change.  

  
 Amendments to Paragraph 104(d) supports the Building Better, Building Beautiful 

Commission’s recommendations on encouraging walking and cycling. Paragraph 
91(b) includes minor changes to help to clarify Government’s expectations for 
attractive pedestrian and cycle routes. This supports the Building Better Building 
Beautiful Commission’s recommendations on supporting walkable 
neighbourhoods.  

  
 The review places an emphasis on the use of masterplans and design codes (as 

well as area-based character assessments) to create “beautiful and 
sustainable places”, where land is also used efficiently.  

   
 Paragraph 12 of the NPPF – ‘Achieving Well-Designed Places’ is proposed for 

whole scale revision to reflect the new status of the proposed National Model 
Design Code and indicates how this, and the National Design Guide, should be 
used to create local Design Guides/Codes.  In the absence of a local document, it 
will be the national documents that will “…be used to guide decisions on 
applications”. Further information on the National Model Design Guide is provided 
below.  

  
 Paragraph 130 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that streets are tree lined with an 

expectation that all new streets should be treelined and that there are 
improvements in biodiversity and access to nature through design.  

  
 It is proposed that the flooding related paragraphs in the NPPF be revised.  

Reference is made to plans taking account of “all sources of flood risk” and using 
opportunities provided by new development and improvements in green and 
other infrastructure to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding.   

  
 The consultation proposes to introduce a mechanism to assess any proposal to 

remove or alter a historic status, plaque or memorial, irrespective of whether the 
feature is listed.   

   
 Also included is a new Annex 3 which sets out the Flood Risk Vulnerability 

Classifications (e.g. what comprises essential infrastructure; what uses are 
‘Highly Vulnerable, ‘More Vulnerable’, ‘Less Vulnerable’ and ‘Water-Compatible 
Development”).  

 
2.6      Officers are generally supportive of the amendments suggested with these seen as 

important revisions aimed at improving the overall quality of development. Whilst 
generally supportive concern has been expressed regarding the resource 
implications for local authorities in the preparation of local design guides, 
amendments made in relation to flood risk and proposed restrictions on the use of 
Article 4 directions. 

 
2.7 While the preparation of local design guides and codes is supported it is proposed 

that the Council’s response highlights the need to ensure that local authorities are 
adequately resourced and funded to undertake this work. The preparation of such 
documents will require substantial community and industry involvement and are likely 
to be vulnerable to significant scrutiny and challenge unless prepared correctly. It is 
therefore vital that authorities are sufficiently resourced to undertake this work and 

Page 54



that the process through which such guides and codes will be assessed and tested is 
fully understood.  Concern has also been expressed regarding the potential time it 
may take to prepare such documents and the implications that this will have on the 
preparation of future Local Plan documents and the determination of planning 
applications. 

 
2.8 Additional clarity has been requested in relation to amendments concerning flood 

risk. Several additional amendments are proposed by Officers including the need to 
ensure that it is made clear that development must be steered away from areas at 
risk from surface and ground water flooding and areas where climate change 
allowances would increase the level of flood risk in the future. It is also requested that 
the revisions be further amended to ensure that new development reduces flood risk 
on and off site.  

 
2.9  The proposed response also notes concern regarding proposed amendments to the 

application of Article 4 directions. Article 4 directions can be used by local authorities 
to remove national permitted development rights. Officers believe that the proposed 
revisions in relation to the scale of area they can be applied to seeks to water down 
their application and their effectiveness, limiting an authority’s ability to use them. 

 
National Model Design Code 
 
2.10     In addition to the proposed revisions to the NPPF the Government are also consulting 

on a new National Model Design Guide. This follows amendments to the NPPF which 
include an expectation for all local authorities to develop local design codes. A design 
code is described as a set of simple, concise, illustrated design requirements that are 
visual and numerical wherever possible and provide specific, detailed parameters for 
the physical development of a site or area. 

 
2.11 The intention is that these will be produced for areas or sites providing detailed 

information on the design considerations that should be provided. 
 
2.12     In order to assist this process the Government have published the draft National Model 

Design Code for consultation. This expands on the Government’s 10 characteristics of 
good design set out in the National Design Guide and sets out a common overarching 
framework for design which local authorities can use to provide their own local design 
codes. It aims to provide a toolkit to guide local authorities on the design parameters 
and issues that will need to be considered. 

 
2.13    The National Model Design Code sets out a baseline standard of quality and practice 

which local planning authorities are expected to take into account when developing 
their own codes and guides and determining planning applications. This includes 
consideration of the following: 

 

  the layout of new development, including street pattern; 

  how landscaping should be approached including the importance of streets     
being tree-lined;  

  the factors to be considered when determining whether façades of buildings 
are of sufficiently high quality; 

  the environmental performance of place and buildings ensuring they 
contribute to net zero targets;  

 the local vernacular and heritage, architecture and materials of an area. 
 
2.14   Importantly the revised NPPF states that in the absence of local design guidance, local 

Page 55



planning authorities will be expected to defer to the National Design Guide, National 
Model Design Code and Manual for Streets in making decisions.  

 
2.15  The National Model Design Code provides information on the process that local 

authorities will be expected to follow in preparing their own local documents. 
Engagement with local communities and developers is recognised as essential to this 
process. The Code notes that local authorities may collaborate with developers and 
land-owners on design codes for specific sites. In either instance local authorities 
should identify an overarching design vision and objectives that can inform design 
codes whether these are subsequently provided by the local authority themselves or 
by other parties. 

 
2.16    The National Model Design Code provides comprehensive coverage on the main issues 

that will be expected to be covered. These are expanded further in an accompanying 
Guidance Note which has also been prepared to support the code. The main topic 
areas covered are: 

 

  Movement – The code notes that well-designed places should be accessible and easy 
to move around. It notes that this can be achieved through a well-connected network 
of streets, good public transport, the promotion of walking and cycling and well 
considered parking and servicing.  

 Nature - The need for nature and green spaces to be woven into the fabric of 
development is highlighted as is the importance of planning for water and drainage and 
the promotion of net gains for biodiversity. 

 Built form – The need to consider the three-dimensional arrangements of buildings, 
blocks, streets and spaces is highlighted. 

 Identity – The code recognises that the identity of an area comes from not just its built 
form and public spaces but also from the design of its buildings. It recognises that 
identity comes out of respecting and enhancing the existing character of an area and 
also from adapting and shaping to develop new character. 

 Public space – The code recognises that the quality of public space relates to the way 
they are designed with further information on key considerations provided. 

 Use – the mix of uses proposed is recognised as being important in the creation of 
sustainable places. 

 Homes and Buildings – the importance of design in ensuring that buildings are 
functional, accessible and sustainable is highlighted. 

 
2.17 Whilst supportive of the Code the proposed response notes concerns regarding the 

resource implications involved in the preparation of local codes and guides. The need 
to ensure that local authorities are adequately resourced and funded to undertake this 
work is highlighted. Concern has also been expressed regarding the potential time it 
may take to prepare such documents and the implications that this will have on the 
preparation of future Local Plan documents and the determination of planning 
applications. 

 
 
3.0 Details of Consultation 
 
3.1 Both documents are currently out to consultation with comments requested by the 27th 

March 2021. The full documents are available to view from the following link National 
Planning Policy Framework and National Model Design Code: consultation 

proposals - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)  

 
3.2 Following the consultation, a decision will be taken as to whether to proceed with the 

Page 56

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals


described approaches.  
 
4.0 Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment) 
 

 Option 1:  To formally 
respond to the Ministry 
of Housing, 
Communities and 
Local Government 
with the comments 
provided in Appendix 1 
of this report. 

Option 2:  To formally 
respond to the Ministry 
of Housing, 
Communities and 
Local Government 
with any other 
comments 

Option 3: To provide 
no comment to the 
consultation exercise 

Advantages 
 

That the views and 
opinions of the City 
Council are duly 
considered in the 
consultation process 
and preparation of the 
any revised guidance. 

That the views and 
opinions of the City 
Council are duly 
considered in the 
consultation process 
and the preparation of 
any revised guidance.  

No advantages 

Disadvantages 
 

That whilst the City 
Council submit 
comments there is no 
guarantee that these 
comments will be 
included. 

That whilst the City 
Council submit 
comments there is no 
guarantee that these 
comments will be 
included. 

That the 
views/opinions of the 
City Council will not be 
taken into account and 
future opportunity to 
feed into the process 
is lost. 

Risks 
 

The report may not be 
revised in light of the 
comments received 
from the City Council. 

The report may not be 
revised in light of 
comments received 
from the City Council. 

The report may not be 
revised in light of the 
comments received 
from the City Council 
and future opportunity 
to feed into the 
process is lost. 

  
5.0  Officer Preferred Option (and comments) 
 
5.1 Option 1 is the preferred Officer option. This option ensures that the City Council 

remains part of discussions and that future iterations are shaped by its involvement. 
 
6.0 Conclusion 
 
6.1 It is recommended that the response set out in Appendix 1 is submitted to the Ministry of 

Housing, Communities and Local Government as the City Council’s formal response to 
the consultation. 

 
 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing): 
 
If taken forward the proposed revisions will have an impact on the determination of planning 
applications in this district and in the preparation of the Local Plan. The Council will need to 
ensure that its decisions are in line with any future revisions. The general steer of the 
consultation is however consistent with the City Council’s own priorities of ensuring high 
quality development and meeting the needs of its residents. 
 

Page 57



LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no legal implications arising directly from this report. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The purpose of the report, at this stage, is to gain approval to respond to the proposed changes 
to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the consultation on a new National 
Model Design Code.  There are therefore no financial implications at this stage.   
 
Should the proposed changes be adopted by the Council there may be a requirement for 
additional resources to ensure that the service can be delivered.  These details along with any 
other financial implications will be quantified in a further report once the changes have been 
agreed. 
 
 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces 
 
The preparation of local design codes will have human resource implications. Resources will 
need to be in place to ensure that codes can be prepared. Preparation is likely to be resource 
intensive with the documents subject to community and developer scrutiny. Several stages of 
engagement will be required. 
 
 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Section 151 has been consulted and has no comments to add 
 
 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
 
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no comments to add 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Available to view from the following link  
 
National Planning Policy Framework 

and National Model Design Code: 

consultation proposals - GOV.UK 

(www.gov.uk) 

Contact Officer:  Rebecca Richards 
Telephone:  01524 58291 
Email:  rrichards@lancaster.gov.uk 
Ref:  N/A 
 
  
 

  
 

Appendix 1 – Proposed City Council questionnaire response to the consultation 
 

(The proposed response to questions are highlighted in bold below) 

  

Page 58

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals/national-planning-policy-framework-and-national-model-design-code-consultation-proposals


National Planning Policy Framework and 
National Model Design Code: Consultation 
proposals  

  
Proposed changes to Chapter 2: Achieving sustainable development  
  
The revised text reflects the Government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful 
Commission, and makes a small number of other minor changes:  
  
The wording in paragraph 7 has been amended to incorporate the 17 Global Goals for Sustainable 
Development which are a widely-recognised statement of sustainable development objectives, to 
which the UK has subscribed.  
  
Paragraph 8(b) has been amended in response to the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission 
recommendations to emphasise the importance of well-designed, beautiful and safe places in 
achieving social objectives of sustainable development.   
  
The wording in paragraph 8(c) has been strengthened to emphasise the role of planning in protecting 
and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment.  
  
The wording of the presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11(a)) has been 
amended to broaden the high-level objective for plans to make express reference to the importance 
of both infrastructure and climate change.  
  
The final sentence in footnote 8 (referred to in paragraph 11(d)) has been removed as the transitional 
arrangements for the Housing Delivery Test no longer apply. 
  
1. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 2?  
  
Yes  
  
Please provide comments:  
  
The City Council support the amendments made within Chapter 2. The amendments rightly 
recognise the need to deliver sustainable patterns of development that meet the development 
needs of an area while also reflecting infrastructure capacity, improvements to the 
environment and climate change considerations.  
  
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 3: Plan-making  
  
The revised text reflects the Government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful 
Commission, and recent legal cases:  
  
In response to the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission recommendations, paragraph 20 has 
been amended to require strategic policies to set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and 
design quality of places.  
  

Page 59



Paragraph 22 has also been amended in response to the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission 
recommendations to clarify that councils who wish to plan for new settlements and major urban 
extensions will need to look over a longer time frame, of at least 30 years, to take into account the 
likely timescale for delivery.  
  
Paragraph 35(d) has been amended to highlight that local plans and spatial development strategies 
are ‘sound’ if they are consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable 
development in accordance with the policies in the Framework, and other statements of national 
planning policy where relevant. This ensures that the most up to date national policies (for example, 
Written Ministerial Statements) can be taken into account.  
  
2. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 3?  
  
Yes  
  
Please provide comments:  
  
The City Council welcome the changes suggested and support the establishment of visions set 
within longer time horizons for large scale developments. Such an approach will ensure that 
longer term infrastructure capacity and needs are fully considered together with environmental 
and climate change considerations.  
  
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 4: Decision making  
  
The revised text aims to clarify the policy intention for Article 4 directions:  
  
In order to ensure Article 4 directions can only be used to remove national permitted development 
rights allowing changes of use to residential where they are targeted and fully justified, we propose 
amending Paragraph 53, and ask for views on two different options.  
  
We also propose clarifying our policy that Article 4 directions should be restricted to the smallest 
geographical area possible. Together these amendments would encourage the appropriate and 
proportionate use of Article 4 directions.  
  
3. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 4?  
  
No  
  
Which option relating to change of use to residential do you prefer and why?  
 

The City Council do not support the proposed changes in Chapter 4 with regard to the application 
of Article 4 directions. The use of such approaches, where it is appropriately justified, can provide 
an essential tool for local authorities to manage proposals which can be considered damaging and 
inappropriate. The revisions proposed as part of this consultation seek to water down application 
and effectiveness of Article 4’s and is considered to run contrary to the Government’s proposed 
approach to delivering high quality place making.  
  
Notwithstanding these concerns, the Council would have a preference toward the first option 
which provides more clarity in terms of the application of Article 4  
  

Page 60



  
Proposed changes to Chapter 5: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes  
  
The revised text aims to clarify the existing policy and reflects the Government’s response to the 
Building Better Building Beautiful Commission and recent legal cases:  
  
New paragraph 65 has been amended to clarify that, where major development involving the 
provision of housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should expect at least 10% of the 
total number of homes to be available for affordable home ownership. This is to address confusion as 
to whether the 10% requirement applies to all units or the affordable housing contribution.  
  
New paragraph 70 has been amended to remove any suggestion that neighbourhood plans can only 
allocate small or medium sites. This was not the policy intention, so the wording has therefore been 
amended to clarify that neighbourhood planning groups should also give particular consideration 
to the opportunities for allocating small and medium-sized sites (of a size consistent with new 
paragraph 69a) suitable for housing in their area.  
  
New paragraph 73 has been amended to reflect Chapter 9: “Promoting sustainable transport” in 
ensuring that larger scale developments are supported by the necessary infrastructure and facilities 
including a genuine choice of transport modes. New paragraph 73(c) has also been amended in 
response to the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s recommendations to clarify that 
when planning for larger scale development, strategic policy making authorities should set clear 
expectations for the quality of the places to be created and how this can be maintained (such as by 
following Garden City principles) and ensure that masterplans and codes are used to secure a variety 
of well-designed and beautiful homes to meet the needs of different groups in the community.  
Footnote 40 (referred to in new paragraph 74(c)) has been updated to reflect that the Housing Delivery 
Test has now come into effect.  
  
New paragraph 80(d) has been amended in response to legal cases in order to clarify that the curtilage 
does not fall within the scope of this policy.  
  
New paragraph 80 (e) has been amended in response to the Building Better, Building Beautiful 
Commission’s policy proposition 1 e) that it opens a loophole for designs that are not outstanding, but 
that are in some way innovative, and that the words ‘or innovative’ should be removed. This change 
is not proposed to rule out innovative homes, rather that it will ensure that outstanding quality can 
always be demanded, even if an innovative approach is taken.  
  
4. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 5?  
  
Yes  
  
Please provide comments:  
  
The City Council support the proposed amendments. The clarity provided by amendments to 
paragraphs 65 and 80 are welcomed.   
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities  
  
The revised text seeks to clarify existing policy:  
  

Page 61



New paragraph 92(b) includes minor changes to help to clarify Government’s expectations for 
attractive pedestrian and cycle routes. This supports the Building Better Building Beautiful 
Commission’s recommendations on supporting walkable neighbourhoods.  
  
New paragraph 97 has been amended to emphasise that access to a network of high quality open 
spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and well-being 
of communities, and can deliver wider benefits for nature and efforts to address climate change.  
  
  
5. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 8?  
  
Yes  
  
The proposed amendments are supported by the Council and are a welcomed addition to the 
framework.  
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 9: Promoting sustainable transport  
  
The revised text reflects the Government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful 
Commission:  
  
New paragraph 105(d) has been amended to support the Building Better, Building Beautiful 
Commission’s recommendations on encouraging walking and cycling.  
  
New paragraph 109(c) and supporting footnote 45 has been amended to prevent continuing reliance 
by some authorities on outdated highways guidance. Our amended wording states that in assessing 
sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific applications for development, it 
should be ensured that the design of schemes and standards applied reflects current national 
guidance, including the National Design Guide and National Model Design Code.  
  
6. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 9?  
  
Yes   
  
Please provide comments:  
  
The City Council support the proposed amendments. The need to reflect current and more up to 
date guidance is supported.  
  
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 11: Making effective use of land  
  
The revised text reflects the Government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful 
Commission:  
  
New paragraph 124 has been amended to include an emphasis on the role that area-based character 
assessments, codes and masterplans can play in helping to ensure that land is used efficiently while 
also creating beautiful and sustainable places.  
  

Page 62



7. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 11?  
  
Yes  
  
Please provide comments   
  
The emphasis on area based and local evidence and guidance is supported. This will ensure that 
local considerations are properly considered when making future decisions regarding the use of 
land.  
  
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 12: Achieving well-designed places  
  
The revised text reflects the Government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful 
Commission:  
  
New paragraphs 125 and 127 have been amended to include the term “beautiful” in response to the 
Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s findings. This supports the Building Better Building 
Beautiful Commission’s recommendation for an overt focus on beauty in planning policy to ensure the 
planning system can both encourage beautiful buildings and places and help to prevent ugliness when 
preparing local plans and taking decisions on planning applications  
  
New paragraph 126 has been amended to clarify the role that neighbourhood planning groups can 
have in relation to design policies.  
  
New paragraph 127 has been amended to emphasise that all local planning authorities should prepare 
design guides or codes consistent with the principles set out in the National Design Guide and National 
Model Design Code and which reflect local character and design preferences.  
  
A new paragraph 128 has been added in response to the Building Better Building Beautiful 
Commission’s recommendations and our manifesto commitment to give communities greater say in 
the design standards set for their area. This reflects the Government’s proposals for a National Model 
Design Code, which will include a model community engagement process, and will create a framework 
for local authorities and communities to develop a more consistent approach which reflects the 
character of each place and local design preferences. It also clarifies that the National Design Guide 
and the National Model Design Code should also be used to guide decisions on planning applications 
in the absence of locally produced guides or codes.  
  
A new paragraph 130 has been added to reflect the findings of the Building Better Building Beautiful 
Commission and the Government’s ambition to ensure that all new streets are tree-lined, and that 
existing trees are retained wherever possible.  
  
New paragraph 132 and footnote 50 have been updated to refer to Building for a Healthy Life.  
  
New paragraph 133 responds to the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s 
recommendations to make clear that development that is not well designed should be refused, 
especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design. In addition, 
it clarifies that significant weight should be given to development which reflects local design policies 
and government guidance on design.  
  

Page 63



8. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 12?  
  
Yes  
  
Please provide comments   
  
  
Whilst the preparation of local design guides and codes is supported the Government will need to 
ensure that local authorities are adequately resourced and funded to undertake this work. The 
preparation of such documents will require substantial community and industry involvement and 
are likely to be vulnerable to significant scrutiny and challenge unless prepared correctly. It is 
therefore vital that authorities are sufficiently resourced to undertake this work and that the 
process through which such guides and codes will be assessed and tested is fully understood.   
  
   
Proposed changes to Chapter 13: Protecting the Green Belt  
  
The revised text seeks to clarify existing policy:  
  
New paragraph 149(f) has been amended slightly to set out that development, including  buildings, 
brought forward under a Community Right to Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order, is 
not inappropriate in the Green Belt provided it preserves its openness and does not conflict with the 
purposes of including land within it.  
  
9. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 13?  
Yes  
   
Please provide comments   
  
The Council welcome the clarity provided by this addition.  
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 
coastal change  
  
The revised text seeks to strengthen environmental policies, including clarifying some aspects of policy 
concerning planning and flood risk.  
  
The changes proposed are in part, an initial response to the emergent findings of our joint review with 
the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) of planning policy for flood risk. The 
government’s Policy Statement on flood and coastal erosion risk management sets out a number 
of actions to maintain and enhance the existing safeguards concerning flood risk in the planning 
system. Informed by this, we will consider what further measures may be required in the longer term 
to strengthen planning policy and guidance for proposed development in areas at risk of flooding from 
all sources when our review concludes.  
  
On planning and flood risk, new paragraphs 160 and 161 have been amended to clarify that the policy 
applies to all sources of flood risk.  
  
New paragraph 160(c) has been amended to clarify that plans should manage any residual flood risk 
by using opportunities provided by new development and improvements in green and other 

Page 64

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-policy-statement#:~:text=This%20policy%20statement%20sets%20out,Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Strategy


infrastructure to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding (making as much use as possible of natural 
flood management techniques as part of an integrated approach to flood risk management).  
  
The Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification has been moved from planning guidance into national 
planning policy (set out in Annex 3 and referred to in paragraph 162). It is considered that this 
classification is a key tool and should be contained in national policy.  
  
New paragraph 163 has been amended to clarify the criteria that need to be demonstrated to pass 
the exception test.  
  
New paragraph 166(b) has been expanded to define what is meant by “resilient”.  
  
10. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 14?  
  
No  
  
The inclusion of all sources of flood risk into the sequential approach (new paragraph 160 and 161) 
is supported. This approach will also need to be included within the planning practice note and 
associated guidance and additional guidance provided with regard to the sources of flood risk and 
how these should be addressed in the sequential test. It should be made clear that development 
must be steered away from areas at risk of surface and ground water flooding and areas where 
climate change allowances would increase the level of flood risk in the future.  
  
The changes in new paragraph 160c are supported. However, there should be a clear requirement 
for development to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding on and off-site. There must also be 
a clear requirement for all development proposals to include green/blue infrastructure measures 
to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding on and off site.  
  
New paragraph 166 should be amended to ensure that new development reduces flood risk on 
and off site. Simply ensuring flood risk is not increased elsewhere does not adequately address the 
consequences of climate change. Every opportunity to reduce flood risk should be taken.  
  
New paragraph 166 and associate changes to the planning practice note should ensure that Flood 
Risk Assessments are required for a wide range of applications to ensure that the consequences of 
climate change allowances and future changes to flood zones are adequately taken into 
account for smaller schemes.   
  
New paragraph 168 should be amended to ensure that smaller schemes also incorporate SuDS.   
  
New paragraph 168d) should be amended to ensure multifunctional benefits are provided unless 
there is clear evidence that this could not be achieved.   
  
The amendments to the NPPF, and the necessary associated changes to the planning practice 
guidance, should take the opportunity to redefine SuDS and ensure development provides above 
ground SuDS which deliver multi-functional benefits, rather than provide underground storage 
tanks or pipes. The drainage hierarchy should be amended to include above ground multi-
functional SuDS above underground techniques.  
  
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  

Page 65



  
The revised text seeks to clarify existing policy and reflects the Government’s response to the Building 
Better Building Beautiful Commission:  
  
New paragraph 175 has been amended in response to the Glover Review of protected landscapes, to 
clarify that the scale and extent of development within the settings of National Parks and Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty should be sensitively located and designed so as to avoid adverse impacts 
on the designated landscapes.  
  
New paragraph 176 has been separated from the preceding paragraph to clarify that this policy applies 
at the development management stage only.  
  
New paragraph 179(d) has been amended to clarify that development whose primary objective is to 
conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported; while opportunities to improve biodiversity in 
and around other developments should be pursued as an integral part of their design, especially where 
this can secure measurable net gains for biodiversity and enhance public access to nature.  
  
11. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 15?  
Yes  
  
Please provide comments  
  
Recognition of the need to consider the scale and extent of development within the setting of 
National Parks and AONBs is supported.  
  
Amendments to paragraph 179 (d) are also supported although the Council would have preferred 
to have seen the use of the word ‘provided’ rather than ‘pursued’. This would have added strength 
to the policy and the delivery of net gains for biodiversity.  
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment  
  
The revised text seeks to reflect a change made to national planning policy by a Written Ministerial 
Statement on protecting our nation’s heritage dated 18 January 2021.  
  
New paragraph 197 has been added to clarify that authorities should have regard to the need to retain 
historic statues, plaques or memorials, with a focus on explaining their historic and social context 
rather than removal, where appropriate.    
  
12. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 16?  
  
No  
  
Please provide comments  
  
We consider that the removal of statues, plaques and memorials that are heritage assets can be 
dealt with under the current heritage regulatory controls and provisions.  In the case of listed 
heritage assets, applications for removal would need to meet the tests within s16 of the 1990 Act, 
which implies a presumption in favour of their conservation, together with the requirements for 
clear and convincing justification within the existing NPPF.  Simple guidance within the NPPG or 
from Historic England is required, rather than a specific policy within the NPPF, on alternative 

Page 66

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/833726/landscapes-review-final-report.pdf


options, such as interpretive panels and other information, to explain their historic and social 
context.  The removal of unlisted heritage assets may not always require planning permission so 
specific controls for such works may also be required.  If changes to the NPPF are essential, it 
would be useful instead to have greater clarity on how to address substantially harmful proposals 
to the whole range of historic features within the public realm, which do not constitute buildings 
(e.g. historic paving, milestones, stone benches, stone troughs, water features, bollards, signposts) 
as proposals for their loss or alteration cannot be realistically measured against criteria in NPPF 
para 195.  Mitigating the powers of highway authorities to carry out harmful works, in particular, 
is urgently required in addition to such policy changes.  
  
  
  
Proposed changes to Chapter 17: Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals  
  
Minor changes have been made to clarify existing policy.  
  
New paragraph 209(c) has been amended to refer to Mineral Consultation Areas in order to clarify 
that this is an important mechanism to safeguard minerals particularly in two tier areas, and to reflect 
better in policy what is already defined in Planning Practice Guidance.  
New paragraph 210(f) has been amended to reflect that some stone extraction sites will be large and 
serve distant markets.  
  
13. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 17?  
 

Yes  
  
The clarity provided by the amendments is supported.  
  
  
  
  
Proposed changes to Annex 1: Implementation  
  
Minor changes have been made to update the position on transitional arrangements, and on the 
Housing Delivery Test.  
  
  
Proposed changes to Annex 2: Glossary  
  
The definition of “green infrastructure” has been updated to better reflect practice, as already set out 
in Planning Practice Guidance, published evidence reviews and the new national framework of green 
infrastructure standards.  
  
The definition of the “Housing Delivery Test” has been amended to reflect the rulebook. This clarifies 
that the test measures homes delivered in a local authority area against the homes required, using 
national statistics and local authority data.  
  
The definition of “minerals resources of local and national importance” has been amended to include 
coal derived fly ash in single use deposits.  
  
Definitions of “mineral consultation area”, “recycled aggregates” and “secondary aggregates” have 
been added to reflect the changes in chapter 17.  

Page 67



  
14. Do you have any comments on the changes to the glossary?  
Yes  
  
Please provide comments   
  
The amendments are supported by the City Council.  
  
  
National Model Design Code  
Top of Form  
  
15. We would be grateful for your views on the National Model Design Code, in terms of   
a) the content of the guidance  
 b) the application and use of the guidance   
c) the approach to community engagement  
Please provide comments  
  
As noted in our response to question 8 while the preparation of local design guides and codes is 
supported the Government will need to ensure that local authorities are adequately resourced 
and funded to undertake this work. The preparation of such documents will require substantial 
community and industry involvement and are likely to be vulnerable to significant scrutiny and 
challenge unless prepared correctly. It is therefore vital that authorities are sufficiently resourced 
to undertake this work and that the process through which such guides and codes will be assessed 
and tested is fully understood.   
  
It is agreed that the National Model Design Code provides a comprehensive coverage of the issues 
that should be explored with the accompanying detailed guidance providing additional technical 
information. Together these provide a useful baseline to take forward local design codes for 
specific areas and sites.   
  
The need for transparency and a collaborative approach to their preparation is supported.   
  
In order for documents to be given weight in planning decisions they will need to be taken 
forward as part of the Local Plan or as supplementary planning documents. Whilst 
recognising their value unless adequately resourced there is significant potential for this to add 
further delays to the allocation of sites and the preparation of up-to-date Local Plans.   
  
  
  
Public Sector Equality Duty  
  
16. We would be grateful for your comments on any potential impacts under the Public Sector Equality 
Duty.  
  
 
The Council do not consider that the proposals set out in this consultation will have any direct or 
indirect impacts on this matter.  
  
 

Page 68



COUNCIL BUSINESS COMMITTEE    

 

Electoral Review of the City Council 
Warding Pattern Consultation 

 
25 March 2021 

 
Report of the Head of Democratic Services  

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
To consider whether or not to respond to the Local Government Boundary Commission, 
(LGBCE)’s current consultation requesting submissions of warding patterns for the City 
Council as part of the electoral review process. 
 

This report is public.   

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
(1) That Members note that the LGBCE is currently seeking suggestions for 

warding patterns for the City Council. 
 
(2) That the Committee considers whether or not to make a response on 

behalf of the City Council, and, if the Committee decides that such a 
response should be submitted to LGBCE, to determine a method for 
drafting a response. 

 
1.0 Background and Introduction 
 
1.1 Council has granted Council Business Committee delegated authority to 

consider and approve responses to LGBCE consultations on behalf of the 
Council.  

1.2 Members may recall that, at the Committee meeting on 18 November, a 
response to the first stage of the LGBCE’s review consultation on Council size 
was agreed, requesting that the size of Lancaster City Council remain 
unchanged at 60 members, providing a rationale for that view. 

1.3 The LGBCE has now confirmed its decision not to change the size of the 
Council and the review will take place based on 60 Councillors.  

1.4 The next stage of the process is for the LGBCE to develop a new set of warding 
patterns to consult on. Before the Commission does that, it has asked for 
suggestions for warding patterns to be submitted from any interested parties. 
Full details are on the Commission’s website here. 

2.0 Proposal 
 

2.1 The Committee first needs to decide whether it wishes to make a submission 
on behalf of the Council, or whether this is best left to individual Councillors and 

Page 69 Agenda Item 8

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/north-west/lancashire/lancaster


political groups. Committee members may prefer not to put forward warding 
patterns at this point, but to respond to the next stage, when the LGBCE has 
put forward its own warding pattern. At that point, there will be a firm proposal 
to comment on. That consultation is scheduled to run from 3 August – 11 
October 2021. 

 
2.2  If the Committee feels that it is appropriate to submit warding proposals, then 

Members are asked to make a decision about how the content of the response 
will be determined, given that officer time for any assistance with this would be 
very limited in the run up to the May elections.  

 
3.0 Conclusion  

 
3.1 The Committee is asked to decide what, if any, warding proposals it wishes to 

make to LGBCE on behalf of the City Council at this stage. The time frame for 
submissions to be made is 23 February – 3 May 2021. 

 

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Sustainability and Rural Proofing) None.  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  
None identified.   

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
None identified. 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources; Information Services; 
Property; Open Spaces: It should be noted that the Head of Democratic Services and the 
Elections Manager are currently working on delivering the elections in May and would have 
extremely limited time available to assist Members in putting together warding patterns, should 
the Committee wish to make representations to LGBCE. 

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS  
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS 
The Section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no further comments. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Lancaster | LGBCE Site 

Contact Officer: Debbie Chambers 
Telephone: 01524 582057 
E-mail: dchambers@lancaster.gov.uk 

 
  

Page 70

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/all-reviews/north-west/lancashire/lancaster

	Agenda
	5 Amendments to the Council's Constitution
	6 The Future Buildings Consultation
	7 National Planning Policy Framework and National Model Design Code: Consultation Proposals
	8 Electoral Review of the City Council - Warding Pattern Consultation

